
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, October 9, 2018 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on October 3 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office. 

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing October 23, 2018. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
October 9, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Rick Robb 
Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net 

Fred Watson 
Vice-Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 
fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net  

Mark Springer 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2018 
msprigner@cityofbethel.net  

Thor Williams 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
twilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Mitchell Forbes  
Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
mforbes@cityofbethel.net 

Brian Henry 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2018 
bhenry@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 
City Manager 
543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 
City Clerk 
543-1384 
lstrickler@cityofbethel.net  

Patty Burley 
City Attorney 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *9-25-2018 Regular City Council Meeting 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

a) Review Canvass Board Certificate Of Election, October 4, 2018 [Not Available Until
After The Canvass Board October 4, 2018] (Mayor Robb)

b) Resolution 18-14: Certifying The Results Of The October 2, 2018  Regular City Election
[Not Available Until After The Canvass Board October 4, 2018] (Mayor Robb)

c) Oath Administered To Newly Elected Council Members (Mayor Robb)

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Introduction Of Ordinance 18-22: Authorizing The Disposal Of Property (Vacant
Building Formerly Known As The Police Annex And/Or The Bojangles Building)
Pursuant To BMC 4.08.030(A) (City Manager Williams)

X. NEW BUSINESS

a) *Introduction Of Ordinance 18-25:  Authorizing The Disposal Of A 34’ X 22’ Parcel Of 
Land Located At Plat 93-32, Lagoon Parcel To Bethel Friends Of Canines Pursuant To 
BMC 4.08.030(B) (Council Member Albertson) 

b) *Introduction Of Budget Ordinance 18-12(d): Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2019 
Budget- Property Maintenance- Streets and Roads- Police Dept.-Administration (City 
Manager Williams) 

c) AM 18-64: Approving Administration To Negotiate And Enter Into A Contract For An
Agenda Management And Packet Solutions With Proposer A ( Council Member
Williams)

d) AM 18-65: Declaring seats on the Public Safety and Transportation Commission
vacant per Bethel Municipal Code 02.52.070 (Council Member Springer)

e) AM 18-66: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Execute A Memorandum
Of Agreement And Data Use Agreement With The Yukon Kuskokwim Health
Corporation (YKHC) Which Will Result In An Enhanced Training Program For The City’s
Fire And Rescue Personnel (Council Member Albertson)

p.5

p.17

p.20

p.33

p.37

p.47

p.48

mailto:rrobb@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:msprigner@cityofbethel.net
mailto:twilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:mforbes@cityofbethel.net
mailto:bhenry@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on October 3 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office. 

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing October 23, 2018. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
October 9, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

f) AM 18-67: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Execute A Purchase
Agreement With The Lowest Bidder For Crushed Gravel (City Manager Williams)

g) AM 18-68: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Execute A Management
And Operations Agreement With Bethel Friends Of Canines (Council Member
Albertson)

h) AM 18-69: Authorize And Approve City Administration To Issue Checks To Quarter 3
Community Action Grant Awardees Based On The Community Action Grant
Committee’s Work On Scoring Applications And Deciding How To Divide Up The
Funds Available (City Manager Williams)

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT
XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

p.56

p.62

p.71



Approval of the Meeting Minutes 



1 

City Council Meeting Minutes City of Bethel, Alaska 

September 25, 2018 

Regular Meeting 
September 25, 2018 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on September 25, 2018 at 6:30 
p.m., in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD

No one present to be heard. 

V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes  

Opposed:  0 

  City Council Meeting 
 City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Thor Williams 

Council Member Mark Springer Council Member Mitchell Forbes  

Council Member Leif Albertson (Telephonic) 

Members Absent: 

Council Member Brian Henry Mayor Rick Robb 

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley 

5



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  September 25, 2018 

Removal from 
Consent: Resolution 18-13 from the consent agenda.  

Moved by: Springer 

 

Primary 

Amendment: Amend the agenda to move to Executive Session after Special Orders of Business.  

Moved by: Williams  
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  Albertson   

VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 
 
Item A – 9-11-2018 Regular City Council Meeting. 
 
Passed on the Consent Agenda. 
 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 

Public Safety and Transportation Commission – 
A meeting has not been held.  
 
Port Commission –  
Nothing to report.  
 
Planning Commission- 
No one available to provide a report.    
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee – 
Have not met since the last City Council Meeting.   
 
Finance Committee – 
Reviewed the current budget and revenue generation strategies.   
 
Public Works Committee – 
Discussed the Institutional corridor, sewage lagoon, ownership of water and sewer 
facilities, the avenues project, and the possible location of the AVEC wind turbine.   
 

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
Item A – Healthfitness Monthly Report. 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

6



3 

City Council Meeting Minutes City of Bethel, Alaska 

September 25, 2018 

Main Motion: 

In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)1: Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which 
Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- Court 

House Leased Property Contract. Those attending Item B were: City Manager, City 
Clerk, and City Attorney. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes  

Opposed:  0 

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

Item A – Public Hearing Of Budget Ordinance 18-12(c): Amending The Adopted 
Annual FY 2019 Budget-Public Transit System-Community Services. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 

Main Motion: Adopt Budget Ordinance 18-12(c). 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

Primary 

Amendment: Amend 56-50-602 to strike $20,000 and insert $10,000 

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes  

Opposed:  Albertson   

Primary 
Amendment: 

Amend to inert line item 56-50-621 as a decrease under Budget Modification b in the 
amount of $5,000.   

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

Item B – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 18-23: Amending The Disposal Of Property 
Pursuant To BMC 4.08.030(B) Lease Agreement Between The City Of Bethel As 
Landlord And The Alaska Court System Tenant Of 17,045 Square Feet Of Office Space 

7



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  September 25, 2018 

Within The Nora Guinn Justice Center, Court House Located At 204 Chief Eddie 
Hoffman Highway.  

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 18-23. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Primary 
Amendment: 

Amend to strike five year lease and insert ten year lease and to strike 2 year term 
for renewal and inert five year option for renewal.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item C – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 18-24: Amending The Lease Agreement With 
The Yukon Kuskokwim Health Corporation (YKHC) Previously Disposed Via Lease 
Approved Through Disposal Ordinance 14-13. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 18-24. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Primary 

Amendment: 

Amend Ordinance 18-24 to insert after “fair market value” insert “effective February 

1, 2017“. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

8



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  September 25, 2018 

X. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Item A – Resolution 18-13: Supporting The Public Employee Retirement System 
Reform. 

 

Main Motion:  Adopt Resolution 18-13. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item B – AM 18-62: Postpone Until November 27th, The Agenda Items Set For The 
November 13th, Regular City Council Meeting Due To A Lack Of Quorum For The 
Council’s November 13th Regular Meeting. 

 

Main Motion:  Approve AM 18-62. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Item C – AM 18-63: Approving The City Administration’s 2019-2023 Capital 
Improvement Plan-CIP. 

 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-63. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

 

Primary 
Amendment: 

Amend to add in the title “the Council directs the City Manager to develop a budget 

modification to include Fire Alarm Panel, Steamer for streets and roads, and the 
Police Dispatch Ctr. Console.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

9



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  September 25, 2018 

Item D – IM 18-15: Presentation Of The City’s Water & Sewer Services Expenditures 
Compared To Budget From July 1, 2018 To August 31, 2018 and August 2018-Utilites 
Maintenance- Water & Wastewater Activity Report. 

 

Item E – Personal Leave Request- City Attorney- November 2-9, 2018. 

Passed on Consent Agenda 
 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XII. MANAGER’S REPORT 
XIII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Vice-Mayor Fred Watson –  
There have been a few drownings on the river, be sure to wear your floatation 
devices and dress appropriately.  
 
Council Member Leif Albertson – 
No comment.  
 
Council Member Mark Springer –  
Glad to see Governor Walker taking action to preserve the 20 Alaska Native 
Languages spoken in the State.  
Glad to see the improvements made to the airport road.  
Notified the public that he is running as a write-in candidate.  
 
Council Member Thor Williams–  
The ballots are out, there is a lot of debate about the ballot proposition.  
Get out and vote.  
If you don’t get water, we are sorry. Give him a call with your concerns.  
 
Council Member Mitchell Forbes– 
No comment.  
 

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
Item A – In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)2: Subjects That Tend To Prejudice 
The Reputation And Character Of Any Person, Provided The Person May Request A 
Public Discussion – Annual Evaluation of the City Attorney. 
 

Main Motion: 

 Move into Executive Session- 
Item A – In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)2: Subjects That Tend To Prejudice 

The Reputation And Character Of Any Person, Provided The Person May Request A 

10



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  September 25, 2018 

Public Discussion – Annual Evaluation of the City Attorney. Those attending Item A 
were: City Attorney. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Main Motion: Give the City Attorney a 3% raise per her employment agreement.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 3-2 

In favor:  Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   Watson   

 
XVI. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Main Motion:  Adjournment. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Council adjourned at 8:51 p.m. 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Fred Watson, Vice-Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

11



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           09-13-2018 

  

City of Bethel, Alaska 

Planning Commission 
September 13, 2018 Regular  Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

I. CALL TO ORDER:  

A regular meeting of the Planning Commission was held on September 13, 2018 at 
the Bethel City Hall, Council Chambers in Bethel, Alaska. Chair of the Commission 
Kathy Hanson called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM. 

II. ROLL CALL:  

Compromising a quorum of the Commission, the following members were present 
for roll call: Kathy Hanson, Lorin Bradbury, Alex Wasierski, John Guinn, and Shadi 
Rabi 
Excused Absence: Scott Campbell and Thor Williams 
Also Present: Betsy Jumper, City Planner; Pauline Boratko, Recorder; Patty Burley, 
City Attorney; Chase Nelson, DOWL Engineer. 

  
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  

Anne Kumulainen- opposed the development of Blue Sky Subdivision. 
Jessica Judy- opposed the development of Blue Sky Subdivision. 
Alex Judy- opposed the development of Blue Sky Subdivision. 
Will Montgomery- opposed the development of Blue Sky Subdivision. 

 
IV. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 

MOVED: Lorin Bradbury Motion to approve the agenda. 

SECONDED: Shadi Rabi 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous  

 
V. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 

MOVED: John Guinn Motion to approve the August 9, 2018 meeting 
minutes. SECONDED: Shadi Rabi 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous 

 
VI.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
A. Blue Sky Subdivision Development Agreement: DOWL Engineer, Chase Nelson 

addressed the commission on the impact of water and sewer costs per parcel. Blue Sky 
developer was not present at the meeting. 

MOVED: Lorin Bradbury Motion to direct administration to meet with 
developer to review disagreements (original) SECONDED: Alex Wasierski 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous 

MOVED: Lorin Bradbury Motion to amend original motion to direct 

13



 

 

Planning Commission                               City of Bethel, Alaska 
                                           09-13-2018 

  

SECONDED: 

Alex Wasierski 

administration to meet with Blue Sky’s developer 
giving a deadline of 4 months (January 2019) to 
resolve disagreements within the 4 month time frame 
given. If failure to meet the deadline, the subdivision 
agreement will be automatically denied.  

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

4 yes, 1 no, motion passes 

 
VII. PLANNER’S REPORT: Betsy Jumper gave her monthly report. 

 
VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS:                             

 
IX.      COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS:   

A. Wasierski- I don’t think water and sewer is an issue. 
L. Bradbury- I agree with Alex. 

 K. Hanson- no comment. 
 J. Guinn- no comment.  
 S. Rabi- no comment.  
X.  ADJOURNMENT:       

MOVED: Alex Wasierski Motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 SECONDED: John Guinn 

VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Unanimous 

 
With no further business the meeting adjourned at 7:43 pm 
APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2018  
   
 
________________________________   _____________________________ 
ATTEST: Pauline Boratko, Recorder    Kathy Hanson, Chair 

14



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
 Introduction Date August 28, 2018 

 September 11, 2018 
October 9, 2018 

Public Hearing:  

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-22 

  Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance #18-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY (VACANT 
BUILDING FORMERLY KNOWN AS THE POLICE ANNEX AND/OR THE 

BOJANGLES BUILDING) PURSUANT TO BMC 4.08.030(A) 
 

WHEREAS,  the City of Bethel owns a parcel of land situated on Lot 1A, Block 5 of Plat 97-
21, City of Bethel, State of Alaska;    

 
WHEREAS, the land contains a building which is currently known as the ‘Old Police Annex’ 

and at one point may have been known as the ‘Old Bojangles Building’;  
 
WHEREAS, the building has not been used for years after the Fire Marshall required it be 

shut down due to safety issues;  
 
WHEREAS, the building suffers from significant structural issues and poses a significant 

safety hazard;  
 
WHEREAS, each day which the building sits empty creates the potential for someone to 

break into the building and get injured, resulting in a lawsuit against the City;  
 
WHEREAS, given the significant structural damage to the building, the fact the building is 

estimated to be more than 30 years old, and it would cost more to repair the 
building than to put up a new one, the wisest thing the City can do at this 
point is demolish the building;  

 
WHEREAS, City staff have the equipment, training and ability to do the demolition work 

themselves, saving the City the cost of hiring a contractor;  
 
NOW, BE IT ORDAINED, the City Council authorizes the disposal of the above 
property via demolition. 
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is of a general nature and shall not 
become a part of the Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION 2.  Authorization.  Pursuant to Bethel Municipal Code 04.08.030(A) Property 
No Longer Necessary for Municipal Purposes.   
 

17



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
 Introduction Date August 28, 2018 

 September 11, 2018 
October 9, 2018 

Public Hearing:  

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-22 

  Page 2 of 2 

SECTION 3. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon the passage 

by the Bethel City Council.  

ENACTED THIS    DAY OF OCTOBER 2018, BY A VOTE OF   IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED.  
 
 
 
      __________________________ 
      Richard Robb , Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

18



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

19



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date October 9, 2018 

Public Hearing: October 23, 2018 
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-25 

  Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance #18-25 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE DISPOSAL OF A 34’ X 22’ PARCEL 
OF LAND LOCATED AT PLAT 93-32, LAGOON PARCEL 

TO BETHEL FRIENDS OF CANINES 
PURSUANT TO BMC 4.08.030(B) 

 
WHEREAS  the City of Bethel owns a parcel of land situated on Plat 93-32, Lagoon Parcel, 

City of Bethel, State of Alaska.   
 
WHEREAS the land contains a building which is currently known as the ‘Pound’;  
 
WHEREAS Bethel Friends of Canines would like to lease a 34 foot wide by 22 foot long 

portion of land next to the Pound;  
 

WHEREAS Bethel Friends of Canines would place a building on that piece of land;  
 
WHEREAS the building would be used to house the operations of Bethel Friends of 

Canines;  
 
WHEREAS the building would also be used as overflow should the pound become full;  
 
WHEREAS Bethel Friends of Canines would, in turn, assist the City by taking over some of 

the duties at the pound, by working with the City to bring emergency veterinary 
services to Bethel and the Region and by providing adoption, rabies vaccination 
emergency transport and spay/neuter subsidies;  

 
WHEREAS Bethel Friends of Canines is a non-profit organization serving primarily the 

animals and citizens of Bethel and then the animals and citizens of the Y-K 
Region; 

 
NOW, BE IT ORDAINED, the City Council authorizes the disposal of the above 
property via lease to an entity providing a public service. 
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is of a general nature and shall not 
become a part of the Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION 2.  Authorization.  Pursuant to Bethel Municipal Code 04.08.030(B) Disposal 
to Entity Providing Necessary Public Service.   
 

20



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date October 9, 2018 

Public Hearing: October 23, 2018 
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-25 

  Page 2 of 2 

SECTION 3. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

passage.  

ENACTED THIS    DAY OF OCTOBER 2018, BY A VOTE OF   IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED.  
 
 
 
      __________________________ 
        , Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

21



1  

COMMERCIAL  LEASE 

BETWEEN 

CITY OF BETHEL and 

BETHEL FRIENDS OF CANINES 

 

This LEASE is made on October 10, 2018 by and between the City of Bethel ("Lessor")  and  

Bethel Friends of Canines, an Alaska non-profit corporation ("Lessee") who address is PO Box 

2287, Bethel, Alaska 99559. 

 

ARTICLE 1 

LEASED PREMISES AND TERM 

 

1.l Leased Premises. Lessor, for and in consideration of the rents, covenants and conditions 

hereinafter specified to be paid, performed and observed by Lessee, hereby leases to Lessee and 

Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, an approximately 34 foot wide by 22 foot long 

parcel of land situated in the Bethel Recording District, Fourth Judicial District, State of Alaska, 

more particularly described as Lagoon, Parcel, Plat 93-32 and better described as a 34’W x 22’L 

parcel of land situated next to the building utilized by the City of Bethel as the “Pound” together 

will all rights, easements, privileges, both subterranean and vertical, and appurtenances attaching 

or belonging to the described land, but subject to the reservation contained in paragraph 1.02 

and the Use and Restriction clause contained in paragraph 4.14 hereof (herein called the "Leased 

Premises"). 

 

1.2 Reservation of Minerals. All oil, gas, coal, geothermal resources and minerals whatever 

nature in or under the above-described land are excluded from the Leased Premises and 

reserved to Lessor; provided, however, that during the term of this Lease, Lessor shall not 

have the right to enter on the surface of the Leased Premises for the purpose of mining 

and/or excavating such oil, gas, coal, geothermal resources or minerals. 

 

1.3 Improvements   Owned  by  Lessee. The  following  described  improvements   ("Lessee's 

Improvements") are to be situated on the Leased Premises and shall remain throughout the term 

of this Lease the property of the Lessee: 

 

One (1) building including all improvements, appliances and furniture contained in the buildings. 

 

1.4 Lease Term. This Lease shall be and continue in full force and effect for a term of Twenty 

(20) years commencing on November 1, 2018 and terminating on October 31, 2038 unless 

earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of this Lease.  

 

Payment for any partial month's occupancy will be prorated, based on a thirty (30) day month.  

Any holding over after the expiration date of this Lease will be considered a tenancy from 

month to month on terms specified in this Lease.  Each party will provide written notice to the 

other party of its intent to cancel the month-to-month tenancy at least thirty (30) days before 

the desired date of cancellation. 

 

 

 

 

22



2  

ARTICLE 2 

RENT 

 

2.1 Rent.  So long as Lessee is (a) utilizing the space to operate a business or program for the 

benefit of the general public or (2) utilizing the space as an office in the support of its work at 

the Pound facility and its work in providing a public service (such as animal rescue, adoptions, 

etc.), the Lessee’s rent shall be One ($1) Dollar per month due on or before the 1st day of each 

month during the Lease Term. 

 

2.2 Should Lessee fail, for a period exceeding thirty (30) or more consecutive calendar days, to 

meet either of the two (2) conditions set out in section 2.1 above, Lessee shall pay rent in the 

amount of One Thousand Two Hundred ($1,200) Dollars per month commencing on the first 

day of the month after Lessee fails to meet the public necessity/public service exceptions set 

out in section 2.1 above.  Said rent increase shall automatic without the need for Lessor to 

make demand.   

ARTICLE 3  

QUIET ENJOYMENT 

Upon timely payment by Lessee of all rent and other payments required to be paid by Lessee 

under this Lease, and upon full and faithful observance and performance by Lessee of all of 

its covenants contained in this Lease, and so long as such observance and performance 

continues, Lessee shall peaceably hold and enjoy the Leased Premises during the Lease Term 

without hindrance or interruption by Lessor or anyone lawfully claiming by, through, or under 

it. 

ARTICLE 4  

LESSEE'S COVENANTS 

 

4.1 Repair and Maintenance. Lessee shall, at Lessee's expense and  without  notice  from Lessor, 

at all times during the Lease Term, keep all improvements now or hereafter built on the 

Leased Premises, especially those improvements constructed thereon which are exposed to 

the view of the public (including but not limited to exterior building walls, windows, 

doors, fences, signs, landscaping, and yard areas) in good order, condition, maintenance, 

operability, and repair and of a neat, clean and pleasing appearance to Lessor.  Lessee shall 

grant Lessor reasonable right of entry to inspect the condition of the improvements on Lessor’s 

property.   

 

4.2 Observance of Laws.  Lessee, at all times during the Lease Term, at its own expense, and 

with all due diligence shall observe and comply with all laws, ordinances, rules and 

regulations which are now in effect or may later be adopted by any governmental agency, 

and which may be applicable to the Leased Premises or any improvement on it or any use 

of it, and shall promptly furnish such evidence of compliance with such laws, ordinances, 

rules and regulations as Lessor may request from time to time. 

 

In furtherance, and not in limitation, Lessee must, at its own expense, comply with all 

laws, ordinances, regulations and administrative agency or court orders relating to health, 

safety, noise, environmental protection, waste disposal, hazardous or toxic materials, and 

water and air quality. In the event any discharge, leakage, spillage, emission or pollution of 

any type occurs upon or from the  Leased Premises during the Lease Term or any holdover 

thereafter, Lessee, at its own expense, must clean and restore the Leased Premises to the 

23



3  

satisfaction of the Lessor and any governmental body or court having jurisdiction over the 

matter. However, Lessee shall not be responsible for the clean-up or restoration of the 

Leased Premises resulting from any discharge, leakage, spillage, emission or pollution to 

the Leased Premises from surrounding  or  adjacent  premises unless Lessee's actions caused 

in whole or in part such discharge, leakage, spillage, emission, or pollution, in which case 

Lessee shall be responsible for the portion of such discharge, leakage, spillage, emission or 

pollution which was caused by Lessee. 

 

Lessee agrees to hold harmless Lessor against all liability, cost and expense (including 

without limitation, any fines, clean-up costs, judgments, litigation costs, and attorneys' fees) 

incurred by or levied against Lessor as a result of Lessee's breach of this Lease. 

 

4.3 Inspection   and   Repair   by   Lessor.  Lessee  shall  repair,  maintain  and  make  good   all 

conditions required under the provisions  of this Lease to be repaired  or maintained within  

twenty (20) working days from the date of written notice from Lessor with regard to 

removal of trash or debris, landscape or yard maintenance, snow removal or cleaning, or 

parking lot lighting replacement and repair, and thirty (30) c a l e n d a r  days from the date 

of written notice from Lessor with regard to all other matters. If Lessee refuses or neglects 

to repair  or  maintain  the  Leased Premises as required under the terms of this Lease to 

the reasonable satisfaction of the Lessor after written demand, then Lessor, without 

prejudice to any other right or remedy it has under this Lease or otherwise, may perform 

such maintenance work or make such repairs without liability to Lessee for any loss or  

damage that may accrue to Lessee's property or Lessee's business by reason of the work or 

repairs. Upon completion of any such repair or maintenance, and no later than ten (10) days 

after presentation of a bill therefore, Lessee shall pay as additional rent Lessor's actual costs 

for making such repairs or performing such maintenance. However, Lessee shall not be 

responsible for the replacement or repair of any street lights that  may illuminate the 

Premises. 

 

4.4 Waste  and  Wrongful  Use.   Lessee  shall not commit or suffer any waste of the  Leased 

Premises or any unlawful, unsafe, improper,  or offensive use thereof or any public or  

private nuisance thereon. 

 

4.5 Setback. Lessee shall observe all setback lines applicable to the Leased Premises and 

shall not construct or maintain any building or other structure between any street boundary 

of the Leased Premises and any setback along such boundary, except for fences or walls 

approved by Lessor. 

 

4.6 Liens. Lessee shall not commit or suffer any act or neglect whereby the Leased Premises or 

the interest of Lessor or  Lessee therein at any time during the Lease  Term  may  become 

subject to any attachment, execution lien, charge, or other encumbrance, and shall defend, 

indemnify and hold Lessor harmless against all losses, costs, and expenses, including 

reasonable attorney's fees, paid or incurred by Lessor in connection therewith. 

 

4.7 Indemnification.  Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from and 

against any and all claims arising from (1) Lessee's use of the Leased Premises, or from the 

conduct of Lessee's business, or from any activity, work or things done, permitted or 

suffered by Lessee in or about the Leased Premises; (2) any breach or default in the 

24



4  

performance of any obligation on Lessee's part to be performed under the terms of this 

Lease; (3) any negligence of Lessee, or any of Lessee's agents, contractors, customers or 

employees, or any person claiming by, through or under Lessee; and (4) any accident on 

or in connection with the Leased Premises, or any fire thereon, or any nuisance  made  or 

suffered thereon when and to the extent such claim arises from the negligence of Lessee. 

 

Lessee, upon notice from Lessor, shall defend any of the above described claims at Lessee's 

expense. Lessee, as a material part of the consideration to Lessor, hereby assumes all risk of 

damage to property or injury to persons, in, upon or about the Leased Premises. However, this 

section does not require Lessee to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Lessor from and against 

any portion of a claim to the extent that portion of the claim is caused by Lessor's negligence, or 

the negligence of Lessor's agents, contractors or employees arising from Lessor's activities on 

the Leased  Premises. Lessor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Lessee from and 

against any portion of a claim to the extent that portion of the claim is caused by Lessor's 

negligence, or the negligence of Lessor's agents, contractors or employees arising from Lessor's 

activities on the Leased Premises. 

 

Lessee acknowledges that before entering into this Lease it has fully inspected or been provided 

with an opportunity to fully inspect the Leased Premises and all documents in the possession of 

Lessor relating to the condition of the Leased Premises, and to test or examine all conditions of 

or on the Leased Premises. Lessee further acknowledges that, at the time this Lease is entered 

into and on the basis of the foregoing inspection or opportunity to inspect, Lessee is as 

knowledgeable about the physical condition of the Leased Premises as Lessor, and on that basis, 

assumes all risks relating to the condition of the Leased Premises, except risks relating to 

environmental pollution not caused by Lessee. 

 

4.8 Costs  and  Expenses  of  Lessor. Lessee  shall  forthwith  pay  to  Lessor  all costs  and 

expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, which are (1) paid or incurred by Lessor but 

are required to be paid by Lessee under any provision of this Lease; (2) paid or incurred by 

Lessor in enforcing any covenant of Lessee contained in this  Lease,  in  protecting  itself  

against  or remedying any breach thereof, in recovering possession of the Leased Premises  

or any part thereof, or in collecting or causing to be paid any delinquent rents, taxes,  

assessments, or rates; (3) incurred by Lessor in reviewing any matter for which Lessor's 

approval is sought and in processing such approval under this Lease; or (4) incurred by 

Lessor in connection with any other action in any respect related to this Lease, the Leased 

Premises, or Lessee's actions or omissions and the Leased Premises, other than a 

condemnation action filed by or against Lessee, to and in which Lessor is made a party but 

not adjudicated to be at fault. The term "costs and expenses" as used in this Lease shall 

include but not be limited to all of Lessor's out-of-pocket expenditures attributable to the 

matter involved. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all costs and expenses of 

Lessor shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor forthwith after mailing or personal delivery of 

statements therefore to Lessee. Such obligations and interest shall constitute additional rents. 

 

4.9 Surrender of Leased  Premises  and  Improvements.  Upon the expiration or  termination 

(including termination resulting from Lessee's breach) of this Lease, Lessee,  without 

further notice, shall deliver to Lessor, possession of the Leased Premises. Lessee's 

improvements shall remain the property of Lessee. At the expiration or termination of the  

Lease, or any extended term thereof, Lessee shall remove, demolish, or otherwise dispose of 

25



5  

all Lessee's improvements within one hundred twenty (120) days of expiration or 

termination, unless Lessor agrees otherwise, in writing, and shall leave Leased Premises in a 

clean and cleared condition.  In the event of failure or refusal of Lessee to surrender 

possession of the Leased Premises or to remove Lessee's improvements from the Leased 

Premises in  accordance  with  this  paragraph,  Lessor shall have the right to re-enter the 

Leased Premises and remove therefrom Lessee or any other person, form or corporation 

claiming by, through or under Lessee, and to declare abandoned and/or remove Lessee's 

improvements therefrom, and to obtain damages for trespass  from Lessee, including but not 

limited to the actual costs of removal.  

 

4.10 Use and Restrictions. Lessee shall continuously use any improvements on the Leased 

Premises to either Operate a program for the general public or to support the operations of a 

program for the general public.  Should Lessee’s use of the Land change from an actual non-

profit public service or direct support thereof, Lessee’s rent shall increase on the 1st of the 

month following the change of use as outlined in Section 2.01 above.  

 

4.11 Utility Services. Lessor shall arrange for its' own utility services and bear all costs for 

utilities. 

 

4.12 Discrimination Prohibited. Lessee will not discriminate  in allowing access to and use 

of the Leased Premises on the grounds  of race,  color, religion, national origin, ancestry, 

marital status, disability, gender, sex, sexual orientation or other legally protected status. 

 

ARTICLE 5  

INSURANCE 

 

5.1 Liability Insurance. During the entire Lease Term, and during any holdover thereafter, 

whether or not authorized by Lessor, Lessee shall keep in  full force and effect,  a policy  or 

policies of general liability and property damage insurance which satisfies the coverage 

requirements set by Lessor with respect to the Leased Premises and the business operated 

by Lessee in which the limit of bodily injury, death, and property damage liability shall be 

not less than ONE MILLION ($1,000,000) DOLLARS per occurrence and not less than 

TWO MILLION ($2,000,000) DOLLARS  in the aggregate, or such higher limits as Lessor 

may specify; provided, however, that no such limit shall in any way limit Lessee's liability 

or be construed as a representation of sufficiency to fully protect Lessee or Lessor. The 

policy or policies purchased pursuant to this paragraph shall name the Lessee as an insured 

and the Lessor as an additional insured with respect to the Leased Premises and the 

business operated by Lessee on the Leased Premises. A copy of each policy shall be 

provided to Lessor within three (3) days of the date this Lease is entered into. 

 

5.2 Policy Provisions: Each policy of comprehensive general liability described above shall: 

 

A. Provide that the liability of the insurer thereunder shall not be affected by, and that 

the insurer shall not claim, any right of setoff; counterclaim, apportionment, proration, 

or contribution by reason of any other insurance obtained by or for Lessor, for any 

person claiming by, through or under Lessor. 

 

B. Contain no provision relieving the insurer from liability for  loss  occurring  while  the 

26



6  

hazard to the building and other improvements is increased, whether or not within the 

knowledge of control of; or because of any breach of warranty or condition or any 

other act or neglect by Lessor, or any person claiming by, through or under Lessor. 

 

C. Provide that such policy may not be canceled, whether or not requested by Lessee, 

unless the insurer first gives not less than thirty (30) days prior written notice thereof to 

Lessor. 

 

D. Contain a waiver by the insurer of any right  to subrogation to any right  of Lessor or 

Lessee against either of them or against any person claiming by either of them. 

 

ARTICLE 6 

EMINENT DOMAIN 

 

6.1 Permanent  Taking.  In the event of a taking by an entity of competent jurisdiction of all or 

materially all of the Leased Premises, or the determination of the Lessor that all or 

materially all of the Leased Premises is necessary for a public purpose, this Lease shall  

terminate  on  the earlier of vesting of title in, or the taking of possession by the 

condemner, or the written determination of the Lessor. 

 

If less than materially all of the Leased Premises are taken or if the Lessor determines 

that it needs less than materially all of the Leased Premises for a public purpose (herein 

called a "partial taking"), this Lease shall continue in effect except as to the portion so 

taken or condemned, but the rent to be paid by Lessee shall thereafter be reduced by a 

percentage equal to the proportion that the number of square feet in the Leased Premises so 

taken bears to the number of square feet of Leased Premises before the partial taking. 

 

6.2 Disposition of Proceeds. Lessor is entitled to all proceeds of condemnation except those 

proceeds specifically allocated for Lessee's improvements. 

 

6.3 Temporary Taking. If the whole or any part of the Leased  Premises  or  of  Lessee's interest 

under this Lease is taken by any competent authority for its temporary use or occupancy, 

this Lease shall not terminate by reason thereof and Lessee shall continue to pay all rental 

payments and other charges payable by Lessee hereunder and to perform all other terms, 

covenants, and conditions contained herein, except to the extent Lessee is prevented from 

so doing by the terms of the order of the taking authority. In the event of a temporary 

taking, Lessee shall be entitled to receive the entire amount of the award and shall be 

obligated, at its sole expense, to restore the Leased Premises as nearly as may be 

reasonably possible to the condition in which they existed immediately prior to such taking; 

provided, however, that if the period of temporary use or occupancy extends beyond the 

expiration of the Lease Term, the award shall be apportioned between Lessor and Lessee 

as of said date of expiration, after Lessor shall have received the entire portion of the award 

attributable to physical damage to the Leased Premises and any improvements thereon and 

to the restoration thereof to the condition existing immediately prior to the taking or 

condemnation. 

 

 

 

27



7  

ARTICLE 7  

ASSIGNMENTS AND MORTGAGES 

 

6.1 Lessor's  Consent  Required.   Lessee shall not voluntarily  or by operation of law assign, 

transfer, mortgage, sublet, or otherwise transfer or encumber all or any part of Lessee's  

interest in this Lease or in the Leased Premises without Lessor's prior written consent. 

Lessor's consent shall  not  be   unreasonably   withheld.   Any   attempted   assignment,   

transfer,    mortgage, encumbrance or subletting without such consent shall be void and 

shall constitute a breach  of this Lease. 

6.2  
ARTICLE 8 

TERMINATION, DEFAULT AND DEFEASANCE 
 

8.1 Termination of Management and Operations Agreement.  This Lease shall run 

contemporaneous to a Management and Operations Agreement signed and effective on the 

same timeframe.  Should the Management and Operations Agreement be terminated for any 

reason whatsoever, this Lease shall automatically terminate as well. 

 

8.2 Event of Default: Each of the following events shall be a default by Lessee and a breach of 

this Lease: 

 

A. Failure   to   Continuously   Operate   a   Facility.   C ontinuously  operate  shall be 

defined  as open and operating  regularly scheduled days and hours with no more than 

ninety (90) calendar days closure during any calendar year. 

 

B. Failure  to Perform  Covenants.  Abandonment  or surrender of the Leased Premises or 

of the leasehold estate, or failure or refusal to pay when due any installment of rent or 

any other sum required by this Lease to be paid by Lessee  or to perform  as required  

or conditioned by any other covenant or condition of this Lease. 

 

C. Appointment of Receiver. The appointment of a receiver or trustee to take possession of 

the Leased Premises or improvements or of the Lessee's interest in the leasehold estate 

or of Lessee's operation on the Leased Premises for any reason, including but not limited 

to,  assignment   of  benefit  of  creditors,  but  not  including  receivership  pursuant  

to administration of the estate of any deceased or incompetent Lessee. 

 

8.3 Notice and Right to Cure. 

 

A. Notices. As a precondition to pursuing any remedy for an alleged default by Lessee, 

Lessor shall, before pursuing any remedy, give notice of default to Lessee. 

 

B. Method of Giving Notice: Lessor shall give notice of default by either personal service 

or by first class mail. 

 

C. Lessee's Right to Cure Default(s): If the alleged default is nonpayment of rent, Lessee 

shall have thirty (30) says after the notice is given to cure the default. For the cure of 

any other default, Lessee shall promptly and diligently cure the default and shall have 

thirty (30) days after notice is given to complete the cure. 

28



8  

 

D. Non-Waiver: Acceptance by Lessor of any rents shall not be deemed to be a waiver by 

it of any breach by Lessee of any of its covenants contained in this Lease or of the 

right of Lessor to re-enter the Leased Premises or to declare forfeiture for any such 

breach. Waiver by Lessor of any breach by Lessee shall not be deemed to be a waiver 

of the right of Lessor to declare forfeiture for any other breach or of any other covenant. 

 

E. Right of Lessor to Protect Against Default: If Lessee fails to observe or perform any of 

its covenants contained herein, Lessor, at any time thereafter and with seven (7) days 

notice, or in the case of a situation deemed by Lessor to constitute an emergency, 

without notice, shall have the right but not the obligation to observe or perform such 

covenant for the account and at the expense of Lessee, and shall not be liable to Lessee 

or anyone claiming by, through, or under it for any loss or damage by reason thereof to 

the occupancy, business, or property of any of them. All costs and expenses paid or 

incurred by Lessor in observing or performing such covenant  shall constitute additional 

rents, which Lessee shall forthwith pay to Lessor upon statements therefore. 

 

F. Lessor's Remedies: If any default by Lessee shall continue uncured, following  notice  of 

default as required by this Lease, for the period applicable to the default, Lessor has 

the following remedies in addition to all other rights and remedies provided by law or 

equity or other provisions of this Lease, to which Lessor may resort cumulatively or in 

the alternative. The election of one remedy for any one default shall not foreclose an 

election of any other remedy for another default or for the same default at a later time. 

 

G. Termination   in  the  Event   of  Default:  Lessor  may,  at  Lessor's  election,  terminate  

this Lease in the event of default by giving Lessee notice of termination. On the giving 

of the notice, all Lessees' rights in the Leased Premises shall terminate. Promptly after 

notice of   termination,  Lessee shall surrender and vacate   the   Leased Premises and all 

Improvements not required to be removed, and Lessor may re-enter and take 

possession of the Leased Premises and all remaining improvements.  Termination   under 

this paragraph shall not relieve Lessee from the payment of any sum then due to  

Lessor or from any claim for damages previously  accrued or accruing against Lessee, 

or any other relief available to Lessor. 

 

H. Recovery of Rent: Lessor shall be entitled, at Lessor’s election, to each installment of 

rent or to any combination of installments for any period before termination, plus 

interest at the rate of twelve and a half (12.5%) percent from the due date of each 

installment. 

 

I. Damages: Lessor shall also be entitled, at Lessor's election, to damages in the 

following sums: (1) all amounts that would have fallen due as rent between the time of 

termination and the time the Leased premises are relet; (2) the  amount, if any, by 

which the  rent under this Lease exceeds the rent under any subsequent Lease upon 

reletting calculated over the Lease Term; and (3) all administrative, marketing, 

maintenance, repair, cleaning and similar costs incurred by Lessor. 

 

J. Application  of  Sums  Collected by Lessor:  Lessor  shall apply all proceeds  of 

reletting  as follows: first, to the payment of reasonable expenses (including attorney's 

29



9  

fees and broker's commissions or both) paid or incurred by or on behalf of Lessor. 

Second, in  recovering possession, placing the Leased Premises and improvements in 

good condition, and preparing or altering  the  Leased  Premises  or improvements  for 

reletting.    Third, to  the reasonable expenses of securing new lessees. Fourth, to the 

fulfillment of Lessee's covenants to the end of the Lease term; and finally, to Lessor's 

uses and purposes. 

 

K. Costs: In the event Lessee shall be in default in the performance of any of its 

obligations under this Lease, and Lessor takes any action to enforce this  Lease,  

including,  but  not limited to, court action, Lessee shall pay Lessor all the expenses 

incurred by Lessor in taking such action including full and reasonable attorney's fees. 

 

ARTICLE 9 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

9.1 Lessor's Right to Entry, Inspection and Repair: Lessor may enter and inspect the 

Premises, at any time  during regular  business  hours,  with  or without  the presence  of 

Lessee  or its authorized representative, after giving twenty-four (24) hours  advance notice 

to Lessee of such inspection. To protect the confidentiality of Lessee's clients, Lessor shall 

take every step possible to not enter without the presence and consent of Lessee except in an 

emergency or upon agreement by Lessee, such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld 

or refused. In the event of an emergency, Lessor may enter and inspect the Leased Premises 

on reasonable notice to Lessee (including no  notice  if the circumstances  warrant)  and 

make such repairs or institute such measures, on the account and at the expense of Lessee, 

as may be necessary to avert or terminate the emergency. An emergency is any action, 

event or condition, either extant or imminent, that threatens significant damage to property 

or injury to persons on or near the Leased Premises, and includes, but is not limited to, 

flood, fire, explosion, uncontrolled dangerous discharge or release of water or  fluids,  or  

the unauthorized or illegal placement of hazardous or toxic materials on Leased Premises. 

The provisions of this paragraph apply to Lessor solely in its capacity as Lessor hereunder 

and not in any other capacity. 

 

9.2 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be 

deemed given only if in writing signed by an authorized representative of the sender and 

delivered by facsimile, email (with a hard copy mailed first class) or mailed and addressed 

to the respective parties as follows: 

 

To Lessor:     To Lessee 

 City of Bethel     Bethel Friends of Canine 

Attn: City Manager    Attn: 

P.O. Box 1388     PO Box 2287 

Bethel, Alaska 99559    Bethel AK 99559-2287 

 

with Copy to: 

 

City of Bethel 

Attn: Legal Department 

PO Box 1388 

30



10  

Bethel AK 99559-1388 

 

9.3 Covenants and Conditions.  Every provision in this Lease which imposes an obligation upon 

Lessee or invests an option, power, or right in Lessor shall be deemed to be a covenant of 

Lessee in favor of Lessor, and the time of observance and performance by Lessee of each 

such covenant shall be of the essence.  Full and faithful observance and performance by 

Lessee of each of its covenants contained in this Lease shall be a condition of this Lease. 

 

9.4 Integration and Amendments.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, this 

Lease is a complete integration of every agreement and representation made by or on behalf 

of Lessor and Lessee with respect to the Leased Premises, and no implied covenant or prior 

oral or written agreement shall be held to vary the provisions of this Lease, any law or 

custom to the contrary notwithstanding.  No amendment or other modification of the 

provisions of this Lease shall be effective unless incorporated in a written instrument duly 

executed and acknowledged by Lessor and Lessee. 

 

9.5 Survival and Severability: If any provision of this Lease shall be deemed to be void or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction, other than at 

the initiative or with the support of Lessor, within thirty (30) days of receipt of written 

notice of such holding, Lessor shall have the right and option, exercisable by written notice 

thereof to Lessee, to terminate this Lease effective as of the date of such written notice of 

exercise. It is understood and agreed that otherwise this Lease, except for such provision so 

held to be void or otherwise unenforceable, shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

9.6 Binding Effect. This Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Lessor and 

Lessee and their respective  successors and assigns. The designations "Lessor" and "Lessee" 

include their respective successors and assigns and shall be so construed that the use of the 

singular includes the plural number, and vice versa, and the use of any gender include the 

other genders. If at any time during the Lease Term Lessee is more than one person or 

entity, including persons who are partners and operate Lessee as a partnership, their liability 

thereunder shall be joint and several. 

 

9.7 Lessor's Authority to Convey Fee Title. Lessor retains the absolute and unconditional right to 

convey fee title in the Leased Premises or an interest or estate therein, subject to this 

Lease and the interest of any Qualified Mortgagee. 

 

9.8 Lessee's Authority to Execute Lease. The Lessee represents that the person signing this 

Lease on its behalf has been duly authorized by Lessee's Board of Directors to sign this 

Lease on behalf of the Lessee. 

 

9.9 Captions: The captions of the paragraphs are for convenience only, are not operative, and 

neither limit nor amplify in any way the provisions hereof. 

 

9.10 Execution and Counterparts. This Lease may be executed in two or more counterparts, 

each of which shall be an original and all of which  shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

9.11 Governing Law/Construction: This Lease shall be construed and governed by the laws of 

31



11  

the State of Alaska. This Lease was negotiated between the parties and shall not be strictly 

construed against either party. In the event that a question, dispute, or requirements for 

interpretation or construction shall arise with respect to this Lease, jurisdiction and venue 

shall lie exclusively with the Bethel Court in the Fourth Judicial District at Bethel, Alaska. 

 

IN WITNESS  WHEREOF.  Lessor and Lessee  have duly executed  and acknowledged  this 

Lease. 

 

CITY OF BETHEL      BETHEL FRIENDS OF CANINE 
 

 

             

By: Peter A. Williams      By:  

City Manager       President  

 

Date Signed:        Date Signed:     

 

 

32



Introduced by:

Introduction Date:

Public Hearing:

Action:

Vote:

ORDINANCE # 18-12(d) 

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2019 Budget

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

WHEREAS, the current fire alarm panel in the Public Works Building is obsolete and incapable

of sounding an alarm or initiating strobes and horns;

WHEREAS, the State Fire Marshall's Office requires that a fire-watch be maintained until such time

as a public facility's fire protection system is fully functioning;

WHEREAS, Public Works building employees are currently engaged in a 24-hour fire-watch, in 

which a designated employee personally inspects the premises every hour and

forwards daily reports to the Fire Marshall's Office;

WHEREAS, the cost to replace the fire alarm panel and to install strobes and horns is estimated

to cost $75,000;

WHEREAS, Prior to the City's log cabin building or former laundromat being moved or demolished,

prudence dictates that an asbestos assessment be conducted;

WHEREAS, the estimated cost to have a professional company complete an assessment is $6,200;

PROPERTY MAINTENANCE

Budget modification (a)

Account # Increases Amount

10-70-690 CAPTIAL EXPENDITUES-Fire alarm panel 75,000

10-70-669 OTHER PURCHASED SERVICES-Asbestos asessment 6,200

Total Increases 81,200 

Decreases

10-39900 FUND BALANCE 81,200 

Total Decreases 81,200 

TOTAL Net Change to Property Maintenance Budget 81,200 

WHEREAS, the City has two steamers that are 30 years olds and one is inoperable and

need of replacement.

WHEREAS, the City's two steamers are essential for thawing out frozen culverts in the spring time to facilitate

drainage, reduce flooding, and minimize the damage to roads and private property

due to erosion;

WHEREAS, the estimated cost to replace the steamer is $75,000 each;

STREETS AND ROADS

Budget modification (b)

Account # Increases Amount

10-66-690 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - Steamer 75,000 

Total Increases 75,000 

Decreases

City Manager Williams

October 9, 2018

October 23, 2018

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY2019 Annual Budget be amended as described herein.

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

                    City of Bethel
Ordinance #18-12(d)

1 of 3
33



10-39900 FUND BALANCE 75,000 

Total Decreases 75,000 

TOTAL Net Change to Streets and Roads 75,000

WHEREAS, the Police Dispatch Center console is out-of-date, not upgradeable, and in need of

replacement;

WHEREAS, ProComm Alaska will not provide a service contract to the City for the console in its current 

condition;

WHEREAS, the City applied for homeland security grant funding to cover the purchase cost of 

the console, but was turned down because the review committee felt the City should

pay for the new console (i.e., the State should not be expected to replace the

console every 7 years);

WHEREAS, the estimated cost for a company to purchase and install the entire console is $480,000

(the cost of the console for two dispatch stations is $206,000, plus $150,000 for two system

implementation services, plus $36,000 for essential system support, plus $80,000 for voice

logger, and $8,000 for contingency;

POLICE DEPARTMENT

Budget modification (c)

Account # Increases Amount

10-61-690 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - Dispatch Center Console 480,000 

Total Increases 480,000 

Decreases

10-39900 FUND BALANCE 480,000 

Total Decreases (480,000)

TOTAL Net Change to Police Department 480,000

WHEREAS, the City Risk Manager has determined that the City can benefit from first-hand knowledge

of how to deter, mitigate, and respond to petroleum spills, confined space entry, and

other hazardous events;

WHEREAS, City personnel in the Fire, Police, Port, Departments and Utilities Maintenance Division can 

and should receive the following training courses: Hazardous Materials, Confined Space Entry,

and Confined Space Rescue;

WHEREAS, the Human Resources Manager will be responsible for scheduling the training and

managing the training funds;

WHEREAS, the estimated cost for the courses is estimated at $1,886/day in instructor expenses

times 11 days (5 days for hazwopper + 1 day for Confined Space Entry + 5 days for 

Confined Space Rescue);

ADMINISTRATION

Budget modification (d)

Account # Increases Amount

10-51-545 TRAINING/TRAVEL 20,746 

Total Increases 20,746 

Decreases

10-39900 FUND BALANCE 20,746 

Total Decreases (20,746)

TOTAL Net Change to Administration 20,746 

Section 3.  Effective Date. This ordinance become effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 23RD DAY OF OCTOBER 2018 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.

ATTEST:

                    City of Bethel
Ordinance #18-12(d)

2 of 3
34



_______________________ ______________________________

Lori Strickler, City Clerk , Mayor

                    City of Bethel
Ordinance #18-12(d)

3 of 3
35



36



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-64 

Date action introduced: September 25, 2018 Introduced by:   Council Member Williams 

Date action taken: 
 

▒ Approved                                              ▒  Denied 

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-64 Page 1 
 

SUBJECT/ACTION:  Approving Administration to negotiate and enter into a contract for an 
Agenda Management and Packet Solutions with Proposer A.   

Attachment(s): Draft Contract 

Amount of fiscal 
impact 

 Account information: 

$3,848  Funds are budgeted. 10-52-669 

 

The City Clerks’ Office is responsible for compiling, generating, distributing and 

archiving agendas, packets, and meeting minutes for the City Council. After the funding 

in the FY 2019 budget for computers ($21,000) and electronic packet/agenda 

management ($5,00) the Office began researching options necessary in making the 

process for the City Clerk’s office more streamline while also making the accessibility of 

documents, current and historic, easier for Council and the public.  

 

Following the evaluation of the need, a Request for Proposal was released with the 

following criteria for the proposed solution:   

 MUST HAVE 

1. 
Compatibility with multiple devices, including but not limited to, PCs, Mac products, virtual 
desktops, iPads, tablets, laptops and smartphones.  

2. 
Ability for Admin user to manage meetings types, agenda due dates, workflows, user rights, 
meeting agenda design and templates.  

3. 
Ability to add document/materials to the agendas and to create a meeting packet that can be 
customized and amended after the meeting. This includes group rights to confidential packet 
material.  

4. 
Document integration in various formats, including, but not limited to, Microsoft Access, 
Excel, Word, PDF and JPEG.   

5. Spellcheck and grammar check.  

6. Word searchable agenda and packet.  

7. Ability for the Administrator to work on multiple meetings at one time.  

8. Ability to archive meeting packets as PDF.  

9. Ability to add annotations to the meeting packets.  

10. Ongoing maintenance and operational support. 

11. Vendor-provided start up distance training to administrator and end-users. 

12. 
Minimal downtime with pre-notification of upgrades; system updates must be scheduled in 
advance.  

13. Easy to understand user guides for both administrators and end users. 

37



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-64 

Date action introduced: September 25, 2018 Introduced by:   Council Member Williams 

Date action taken: 
 

▒ Approved                                              ▒  Denied 

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-64 Page 2 
 

 NICE TO HAVE 

1. Meeting minutes component that can automate or simply the minutes’ preparation process.  

2. Ability to retain notes made by users; ability to purge notes by administrators.  

3. One document packet printing with optional page numbering.  

4. Ability to email agenda/packet by link or Adobe.  

5. Integration with Google email/calendar for meeting request management.  

6. Ability to notify participants of upcoming meetings by email and/or calendar invite.  

7. Unlimited agenda and packet size, unlimited attachment size, unrestricted file types and file 
compression. 

8. Ease of drag, drop, copy, move items based on user rights. 

9. Attendance Tracking. 

10. Touch ID Ability for Tablets 

 

Upon review of the six proposals received, one was determined none responsive leaving 

five for full review and scoring. The review team was made up of the IT Director, City 

Clerk, City Clerk’s Assistant and Council Member Williams to ensure every element and 

aspect of the solution would be carefully considered. After individual evaluations then a 

collaborative evaluation with the group, the following scores were applied:  

Proposer A 84.25 

Proposer B 65.5 

Proposer C 51.25 

Proposer D 68.5 

Proposer E 37 

 

Proposer A, with the proposed cost of $3,848 for the first three years and $3,573 for 

the fourth year and beyond the contractor falls well within the Council’s $5,000 budget.  

This pricing include the Agenda Management System, Upgrades hosting, maintenance 

and support, up to seven committee/commissions, Agenda Management, Meeting 

Minutes, Public Portal, Board Portal.   

 

Following the approval of this AM, the City Clerk’s Office will initiate the purchase of the 

seven surface pros presented to the Council during the budget review and present to 

the Council a policy for the City’s issuance of electronic devices at the next meeting.  

38



Service & License Agreement Contract Information 

Contact Information

Organization URL

Street Address

Address 2

City State
Postal 

Code

 provides telephone support for all trained clients from 7am –7pm Central Time, Monday-Friday (excluding holidays). Emergency 
Support is provided on a 24/7/365 basis for representatives named by the Client. Client is responsible for ensuring  has current 
updates.

Emergency Contact & Mobile Phone

Emergency Contact & Mobile Phone

Emergency Contact & Mobile Phone

Billing Contact E-Mail

Phone Ext. Fax

Billing Address

Address 2

City ST
Postal 

Code

Tax ID #
Sales Tax 

Exempt #

Billing Terms
Account 

Rep

Info Required on Invoice (PO or Job #)

Contract Contact Email

Phone Ext. Fax

Project Contact Email

Phone Ext. Fax

City of Bethel www.cityofbethel.org

PO Box 1388

Bethel  AK 99559-1388

Lori Strickler, (907) 543-1384 [O],

Kevin Morgan (907) 543-2047, ext 205

Bo Foley (907) 543-1372/(

Lori Strickler lstrickler@cityofbethel.org

(907) 543-1384 (907) 543-2936

PO Box 1388

Bethel AK 99559-1388

92-6001644 BMC 4.16.160G

Annual

39



 Exhibit A.1 for Bethel, AK

Exhibit A.1 Page 1 of 3

V. PD 06.01.2015-0048

Exhibit A.1 –  Statement of Work #1
All Quotes are in US Dollars and Valid for 30 Days from September 19, 2018

Project Development and Deployment
Implementation and configuration of system, including:

o Upgrades, hosting, maintenance and support
o Up to 7 boards
o Agenda management
o Meeting minutes
o Public portal
o Board portal
o Up to 4 hours of Virtual training for up to 6 Client staff members
o 1 hour Virtual consulting
o First Year Annual Services

$5,065

Total Fees Year 1 $5,065
Annual Services (Continuing Enhancements, Maintenance, Support and 
Hosting)
Billed 12 months from SOW signing; subject to annual 5% increase year 3 and beyond

$3,240

Total Annual Services  $3,240

At the request of Client, agrees to redistribute their standardized pricing as follows:

Advantage 
Annual Investment 
Payments

1st Year 2nd Year 3rd Year

$3,849 $3,848 $3,848

Client may terminate contract at the end of 36 months or terminate pursuant to Section 2 of the Agreement

Performance and payment under this SOW shall be subject to the terms & conditions of the Agreement by and between Client

and , to which this SOW #1 is hereby attached.

This SOW #1 shall remain in effect for an initial term of three years (36 months) (“the SOW #1 Initial Term”) from signing.

Invoicing shall begin upon the date of signing of this SOW #1 as detailed in  Advantage Annual Investment Payments.

Subsequent Annual Investment Payments shall be invoiced on the dates of signature of their respective calendar years.

Renewal Term Annual Services shall be invoiced on the date of signature of relevant calendar years. Annual services,

including but not limited to hosting, support and maintenance services, shall be subject to a 5% annual increase beginning in

Year 3 of service.

 will use commercially reasonable efforts to perform the Services in a manner consistent with applicable industry

standards including, maintaining Services availability 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and responding to Client’s requests for
support during the hours of 7:00 AM to 7:00PM CT, Monday through Friday and any critical support requests 24 hours per day,

7 days a week.

Client shall have sole control and responsibility over the determination of which data and information shall be included in the

content that is to be transmitted to . Client shall not provide to or allow to be provided to  any

content that (a) infringes or violates any 3rd party’s Intellectual Property rights, rights of publicity or rights of privacy, (b)

contains any defamatory material, or (c) violates any federal, state, local, or foreign laws, regulations, or statutes.

40



Exhibit A.1 for Bethel, AK

Exhibit A.1 Page 2 of 3

V. PD 06.01.2015-0048

7. The service(s) are provided on an “as is” basis, and Client’s use of the service(s) is at its own risk.  does not warrant

that the service(s) will be uninterrupted or error-free or unaffected by force majeure events.

8. The Client will be invoiced electronically through email. Upon request will mail invoices and the Client will be charged

a $5.00 convenience fee.

Acceptance

We, the undersigned, agreeing to the conditions specified in this document, understand and authorize the provision of services outlined 

in this Agreement.

Client

By: By: 

Name: Name: 

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 

41



Exhibit A.1 for Bethel, AK

Exhibit A.1 Page 3 of 3

V. PD 06.01.2015-0048

Addendum 1 to Exhibit A.1 - Project Development Division of Work

Phase 1 – Introduction and Initial Configuration 

CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY  RESPONSIBILITY 

Complete the implementation questionnaire
Provide Word versions of your agendas and
item reports

Create a production
site request and assign
a PL request in JIRA
Reach out to Client to
explain the
Implementation plan
Schedule and conduct
a kick-off call with
Client, if requested

Once supplied Word
versions of the agendas
and item reports,
configure the templates in
the system
Input questionnaire data

Phase 2  – Initial Review 

CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY  RESPONSIBILITY 

Be prepared to schedule a call for system
review
Provide feedback on any needed changes

Schedule and conduct a
first look call with
Client.

Provide any template
changes needed to

.

Phase 3 – Final Configuration and Review 

CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY  RESPONSIBILITY 

Provide a list of users
Provide any additional feedback and changes

Enter user list with
appropriate security
settings

Make necessary changes
to templates and
configuration  

Phase 4  – Training

CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY  RESPONSIBILITY 

Schedule a presentation for administrator
training
Schedule a presentation for end user training 

Schedule and conduct
administrator and end
user trainings

Phase 5 (As Needed) – Additional Services 

CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY  RESPONSIBILITY 

Provide Word versions of your most recent
minutes
Provide a list of your Board/Council members
Schedule a 30 minute call for minutes training
Schedule a 30 minute call for BoardView
training 

Once supplied Word
versions of the
minutes, configure the
templates in the
system

Schedule and conduct
minutes training
Schedule and conduct
BoardView training

42



Master Services Agreement for Bethel, AK 

MSA Page 1 of 4 
   

 
V. MSA.02.21.18-0000 

 

Master Services 
Agreement 

THIS Master Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is agreed to by and between  

and the City of Bethel, Alaska, a municipal corporation (“Client”) (referred to individually as “Party” and jointly as “Parties”) and 

shall be effective as of the later date of signing indicated at the end of this Agreement (“Effective Date”). 

RECITALS 

I. WHEREAS,  is engaged in the business of developing, marketing and selling custom community engagement and 

government management platforms and services that include but are not limited to web sites, web interfaces and portals and 

proprietary software systems and associated modules; in addition to project development, design, implementation, support 

and hosting services for same; 

II. WHEREAS, Client wishes to engage in a relationship with  for such services and/or license for the development 

and use of proprietary software developed and owned by  

III. WHEREAS, Client and have agreed to certain terms as set forth in this Agreement by this written instrument duly 

executed by the Parties; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Client and  agree as follows: 

Term & Termination 

1. This Agreement shall commence on the date set forth below and shall remain in full force and effect during the 

term of any associated or attached Statement of Work (“SOW”) between  and Client. This Agreement 

and any associated or attached SOW will continue under the conditions set forth herein until terminated by either 

Party as specifically authorized herein. 

   

2. Upon termination of this Agreement or any associated or attached SOW, the licenses granted for such relevant SOW 

by Section 15, below, will terminate; Client shall cease all use of the  Property (as defined herein) associated 

with the terminated SOW. 

3. Notwithstanding the above, in the event this Agreement or any SOW is terminated, for any reason, prior to payment 

in full being made by Client for work completed by , any outstanding invoices or future planned billing for the 

development of Client’s chosen government management platform and/or services, as defined in the SOW (“Project 

Development”), shall immediately become due in full. 

 
TERMINATION FOR NON-AVAILABILITY OF GOVERNMENT FUNDS.   
 

4. If the City Council fails to appropriate sufficient funds or fails to authorize the expenditure of sufficient funds to continue service 
under this Agreement, Client may submit a written notice to  terminating this Agreement.  Such notice shall be in 
writing and shall be not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of termination.  The notice shall include a written 
statement documenting the reason for termination and an official document certifying the non-availability of funds (e.g., City 
Council action, official budget, or other official government document).  Client shall be liable to  for all charges and 
costs incurred for products and/or for services prior to the effective date of termination.   

 
Statements of Work 

5.  agrees to perform services and/or produce deliverables in accordance with the SOW in consideration of the fees 

owed by Client in described in the same SOW. Multiple and successive SOW may be entered into and shall be attached 

hereto. Such SOWs are incorporated into this Agreement by reference and subject to the terms & conditions contained 

herein pursuant to Section 27. 

Invoicing & Payment Terms 

6. Invoices shall be sent electronically to the individual/entity designated in the SOW’s contact sheet, to be filled out and 
submitted by Client. Client shall provide accurate, current and complete information of Client’s legal business name, address, 
email address, and phone number, and maintain and promptly update this information if it should change. Upon request 

 will mail invoices, and the Client will be charged a $5.00 convenience fee. 

7. Payment is due 30 days from date of invoice. Unless otherwise limited by law, a finance charge of 1.5 percent (%) per 

month or $5.00, whichever is greater, will be added to past due accounts. Payments received will be applied first to finance 

43



Master Services Agreement for Bethel, AK 

MSA Page 2 of 4 
   

 
V. MSA.02.21.18-0000 

 

 

charges, then to the oldest outstanding invoice(s). 

8. If the Client's account exceeds 60 days past due, support will be discontinued until the Client's account is made current. If 

the Client's account exceeds 90 days past due, Annual Services will be discontinued, and the Client website, modules, 

interfaces or portals will no longer be active until the Client's account is made current. Client will be given 30 days’ notice 

prior to discontinuation of services for non-payment. 

9. If the Client requests a change in the timeline set forth and agreed upon at the beginning of the services, and such 

change causes  to incur additional expenses (i.e. airline change fees, consultant fees), Client agrees to 

reimburse  for those fees. Not to exceed $1,000 per  resource per trip.  shall notify 

Client prior to incurring such expenses and shall only incur those expenses which are approved by Client. 

Ownership & Content Responsibility 

10. Upon full and complete payment of submitted invoices for any SOW Project Development Fees, Client will own the website 

graphic designs, webpage or software content, module content, importable/exportable data, and archived information as 

created by  on behalf of Client pursuant to this Agreement (“Customer Content”). 

11. Upon completion of any SOW Project Development, Client will assume full responsibility for website, software or module 

content maintenance and administration. Client, not , shall have sole responsibility for the accuracy, quality, 

integrity, legality, reliability, appropriateness, and intellectual property ownership or right to use of all Customer Content. 

12. Client agrees that  shall not migrate, convert, or port content or information that could reasonably be construed to 

be time-sensitive, such as calendar or blog content, in any Project Development. 

13. Client will make a reasonable attempt to work with , if requested, to create a news item to be released in conjunction 

with their project Go-Live date. Client will provide  with contact information for local and regional media outlets. 

 may use the press release in any marketing materials as desired throughout the term of this Agreement. 

Intellectual Property & Ownership 

14. Intellectual Property of any software or other original works created by  prior to the execution of this Agreement 

( Property”) will remain the property of  Client shall not (i) license, sublicense, sell, resell, reproduce, 

transfer, assign, distribute or otherwise commercially exploit or make available to any third party any  Property in 

any way; (ii) modify or make derivative works based upon any  Property; (iii) create Internet “links” to the  

Property software or “frame” or “mirror” any Property administrative access on any other server or wireless or 

Internet-based device; or (iv) reverse engineer or access any  Property in order to (a) build a competitive product 

or service, (b) build a product using similar ideas, features, functions or graphics of any  Property, or (c) copy any 

ideas, features, functions or graphics of any  Property. The  name, the  logo, and the product 

and module names associated with any  Property are trademarks of , and no right or license is granted to 

use them. 

15. Provided Client complies with the terms and conditions herein, the relevant SOW, and license restrictions set forth in Section 

14,  hereby grants Client a limited, nontransferable, nonexclusive, license to access and use the  Property 

associated with any valid and effective SOW associated with this Agreement, for the term of the respective SOW. 

Indemnification 

16. To the extent permitted by the law of Client’s state, Client and  shall defend, indemnify and hold the other Party, its 

partners, employees, and agents harmless from and against any and all lawsuits, claims, demands, penalties, losses, fines, 

liabilities, damages, and expenses including attorney’s fees of any kind, without limitation, arising out of the negligent actions 

and omissions, or intentionally malicious actions or omissions of the indemnifying Party or its partners, employees, and 

agents, directly associated with this Agreement and the operations and installation of software contemplated by this 

Agreement. This section shall not apply to the extent that any lawsuits, claims, demands, penalties, losses, fines, liabilities, 

damages, and expenses is caused by the negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the other Party. 

Client Responsibilities 

17.  will not be liable for any act, omission of act, negligence or defect in the quality of service of any underlying carrier, 

licensor or other third-party service provider whose facilities or services are used in furnishing any portion of the service 

received by the Client. 

18.  will not be liable for any failure of performance that is caused by or the result of any act or omission by Client or 

any entity employed/contracted on the Client’s behalf. 

19. Client agrees that it is solely responsible for any solicitation, collection, storage, or other use of end-users’ personal data on 

44



Master Services Agreement for Bethel, AK 

MSA Page 3 of 4 
   

 
V. MSA.02.21.18-0000 

 

 

any website or online service provided by . Client further agrees that  has no responsibility for the use or 

storage of end-users’ personal data in connection with the website or the consequences of the solicitation, collection, storage, 

or other use by Client or by any third party of personal data. 

20. To the extent it may apply to any service or deliverable of any SOW, user logins are for designated individuals chosen by 

Client (“Users”) and cannot be shared or used by more than one User. Client will be responsible for the confidentiality and 

use of User’s passwords and User names. Client will also be responsible for all electronic communications, including those 

containing business information, account registration, account holder information, financial information, Client data, and all 

other data of any kind contained within emails or otherwise entered electronically through any  Property or under 

Client’s account.  will act as though Client will have sent any electronic communications it receives under Client’s 

passwords, user name, and/or account number. Client shall use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized 

access to or use of any  Property and shall promptly notify  of any unauthorized access or use of any 

 Property and any loss or theft or unauthorized use of any User’s password or name and/or user personal information. 

21. Client shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, treaties, regulations, and conventions in 

connection with its use of any of the services or  Property. 

Limitation of Liability 

22. ’ liability arising out of or related to this Agreement, or any associated SOW, will not exceed the Annual Services Fee 
paid by Client in the year prior to such claim of liability. 

23. In no event will  be liable to Client for any consequential, indirect, special, incidental, or punitive damages arising out 
of or related to this Agreement. 

24. The liabilities limited by Section 22 and 23 apply: (a) to liability for negligence; (b) regardless of the form of action, whether in 
contract, tort, strict product liability, or otherwise; (c) even if Client is advised in advance of the possibility of the damages in 
question and even if such damages were foreseeable; and (d) even if Client’s remedies fail of their essential purposes. If 
applicable law limits the application of the provisions of this Limitation of Liability section, ’ liability will be limited to the 
maximum extent permissible. 

Force Majeure 

25. No party shall have any liability to the other hereunder by reason of any delay or failure to perform any obligation or covenant 

if the delay or failure to perform is occasioned by force majeure, meaning any act of God, storm, fire, casualty, unanticipated 

work stoppage, strike, lockout, labor dispute, civic disturbance, riot, war, national emergency, act of public enemy, or other 

cause of similar or dissimilar nature beyond its control. 

Taxes 

26. It is ’ policy to pass through sales tax in those jurisdictions where such tax is required. If the Client is tax-exempt, 

the Client must provide  proof of their tax-exempt status, within fifteen (15) days of contract signing, and the fees 

owed by Client under this Agreement will not be taxed. If the Client’s state taxation laws change, the Client will begin to be 

charged sales tax in accordance with their jurisdiction’s tax requirements and  has the right to collect payment from 

the Client for past due taxes. 

Other Documents 

27. The following, if applicable, are to be attached to and made part of this Agreement: 

a. Exhibit A - Statement(s) of Work; 

b. Service Agreement Sales Forms; 

c. Service Agreements previously executed between the Parties; and 

d. Custom Development / Retainer Agreement 

28. In the event of conflict with an attachment to this Agreement, this main body of this Agreement will govern. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no SOW or other attachment incorporated into this Agreement after execution of this 

main body of this Agreement will be construed to amend this main body unless it specifically states its intent to do so 

and cites the section or sections amended. 

29. This Agreement and all attachments hereto sets forth the entire agreement of the Parties and supersedes all prior or 

contemporaneous writings, negotiations, and discussions with respect to its subject matter. 

Interlocal Purchasing Consent 
30. With the prior approval of , which may be withheld for any or no reason within ’ sole discretion, this 

Agreement and any attached SOWs may be extended to any public entity in Client’s home-state to purchase at the SOW 

45



Master Services Agreement for Bethel, AK 

MSA Page 4 of 4 
   

 
V. MSA.02.21.18-0000 

 

 

prices and specifications in accordance with the terms stated herein. 

Miscellaneous Provisions 

31. The invalidity, in whole or in part, of any provision of this Agreement shall not void or affect the validity of any other provision 

of this Agreement. 

32. No amendment, assignment or change to this Agreement or any included SOW shall be effective unless by a written 

instrument executed by each of the Parties. 

33. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts. Each counterpart will be an original, but all such 
counterparts will constitute a single instrument. 

34. Each person signing this Agreement represents and warrants that he or she is duly authorized and has legal 

capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution 

and delivery of the Agreement and the performance of such Party’s obligations hereunder have been duly 

authorized and that the Agreement is a valid and legal agreement binding on such Party and enforceable in 

accordance with its terms. 

 
 
 

Acceptance 

We, the undersigned, agreeing to the conditions specified in this document, understand and consent to the terms & conditions 

of this Agreement. 

Client  

 

By: 
 

By: 

 
Name:  Peter A. Williams 

 
Name: 

 
Title:  City Manager 

 
Title: 

 
Date: 

 
Date: 

 

 

Sign and E-mail the entire contract with exhibits to: 
 

 
Signature pages sent without the entire contract attached will not be accepted. We will e-mail a 

counter-signed copy of the contract back to you once we begin your project. 

 does not require a physical copy of the contract, however, if you would like a physical 
copy of the contract, mail one (1) copy of the contract with original signature to: 

 

   

 

Upon receipt of signed original, we will counter-sign and return the copy for your files. 

46



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-65 

Date action introduced: October 9, 2018 Introduced by:   Council Member Springer 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-65  

Declaring seats on the Public Safety and Transportation Commission vacant per Bethel 
Municipal Code 02.52.070.  

 

Amount of fiscal impact: None 

 

The Bethel Municipal Code requires a Commission declare seats vacant when a resignation has 

been submitted then accepted by the Commission and when a member has had more than 

three unexcused absences at regular meetings in a calendar year. The City Clerk’s Office cannot 

provide public notice of a vacancy until the seat has been declared vacant.  

 

The Public Safety and Transportation Commission has seven members and one alternate 

member currently appointed however, three members have resigned and one has exceeded 

the number of unexcused absences for the year. The Commission has been unable to establish 

a quorum to hold a meeting since April of 2018 therefore the Commission has been unable to 

declare the seats vacant. 

 

Since the Commission is unable to establish a quorum to declare the seats vacant, the Council is 

asked to declare the seats vacant so that the vacancies can be noticed to the public by the City 

Clerk’s Office and appointments be made to establish a quorum of the body.  

 

Commission Member A submitted their letter of resignation to the City Clerk’s Office on August 

1, Commission Member B, submitted their letter of resignation to the Recorder of the 

Commission on August 28th and Commission Member C submitted their resignation to the 

Clerk’s Office on May 2.  Commission Member D, has had five unexcused absences for regular 

meetings since January of 2018.  

 

Member D has been provided notice of this meeting and opportunity to address the City 

Council at this public meeting if they wish per BMC 2.52.070.  

 

    

47



1 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title:   Authorizing the City Manager to negotiate and execute a Memorandum of Agreement 
and Data Use Agreement with the Yukon Kuskokwim Health Corporation (YKHC) which will result in 
an enhanced training program for the City’s fire and rescue personnel.   

Attachment(s):  Draft Memorandum of Agreement; Draft Data Use Agreement 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Pete Williams, City Manager PW 

Patty Burley, City Attorney   PB   Complies with BMC; no legal concerns 

Bill Howell/Daron Solesbee, Fire Department 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

xx No fiscal impact at this time. 

Funds in City Budget. 

Funds not in City Budget. 

Summary Statement: 

The proposed Memorandum of Agreement between the City of Bethel and YKHC will allow 
members of the COB Fire Department the opportunity to gain clinical experience by shadowing 
trained professionals in the medical field.  This will greatly enhance the skills and education of 
the City’s Fire Department members resulting in better care for the people who they service.  
There is no cost associated with this Memorandum of Agreement.   

Action memorandum No. 

Date action introduced:  October 9, 2018 Introduced by: Councilman Albertson 

Date action taken:  Approved  Denied 

Confirmed by: 

18-66

48



1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
Between 

CITY OF BETHEL 
and 

YUKON KUSKOKWIM HEALTH CORPORATION 
 
This agreement, is made by and between the Yukon Kuskokwim Health Corporation (“YKHC”) and 
the City of Bethel (COB). 
 
 WHEREAS, YKHC is a tribal consortium of 58 federally recognized tribes that compacts 
with the federal government pursuant to the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance 
Act, 25 U.S.C. 450, et seq., to provide health care and related services to Alaska Natives, and 
 
 WHEREAS, YKHC’s mission is to achieve the greatest possible improvements in the health 
status of the people of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Region, and YKHC is fully committed to the 
development of culturally relevant programs for the primary care, prevention, and health 
promotion in a setting that fosters Alaska Native Self-Determination, the control and 
management of health care delivery, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Bethel is a municipal corporation organized under the State of 
Alaska, pursuant to Title 29 of Alaska Statute, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Bethel Fire Department is a department of the City of Bethel and provides 
emergency medical services to the residents and visitors of the City of Bethel, and such services 
are beneficial to achieving the mission of YKHC, and 
 

WHEREAS, Emergency Medical Technicians employed at the City of Bethel Fire 
Department require training and observation of patient care duties in accordance with their 
scope of practice under State law. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and mutual covenants and promises 
contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Purpose Scope. 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) is made between YKHC and the COB for Clinical 
Experience in the following clinical areas: 

 
a. Emergency Transport; 
b. 911 response; 
c. OB, ER, Lab and Respiratory departments; and 
d. Transports with LifeMed. 

 
YKHC will allow members of the COB Fire Department (hereinafter COB-FD) the opportunity 

to gain clinical experience by shadowing its employees, thereby meeting COB-FD’s members 

49



2 
 

professional and educational needs.  A more thorough description of the clinical experience 
opportunities for COB-FD staff is outlined in Addendum 1 attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference. 
 
2. Scope 

a. YKHC and COB-FD will coordinate efforts to plan and outline programs for training COB-
FD members in the areas listed above. 
 

b. YKHC and COB-FD will schedule the training in advance. 
 

c. COB-FD members who participate in the training will gain clinical experience by observing, 
shadowing, and spending time with YKHC employees in the various departments listed 
above. 
 

d. All COB-FD members participating in this program will comply with the YKHC Code of 
Conduct, policies and procedures, including, but not limited to, required background 
checks, clinical safety, drug and alcohol abuse policy, OSHA blood borne pathogens and 
infectious disease standard training and tuberculosis prevention prior to beginning their 
clinical rotation.  Copies of all relevant policies will be provided to COB-FD by YKHC upon 
the signing of this Agreement.  Updates to YKHC’s policies and procedures will be 
communicated, in writing, as soon as practicable. 
 

e. YKHC will require all participating members of the COB-FD to adhere to the YKHC dress 
code standards and ensure that their attire clearly identifies them as City of Bethel Fire 
Department members.   
 

f. All participating members of the COB-FD will be required to know the YKHC facility fire 
and emergency response plans.  A copy of these plans will be provided to COB-FD by YKHC 
upon the signing of this Agreement. 
 

g. All participating COB-FD members will be authorized to operate within their scope of 
practice as stated in Addendums 1 of this document. 
 

3. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from October 15, 2018 to December 31, 2022, 
unless otherwise terminated as provided for in this Agreement. 
 

4. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for convenience by providing the 
other party with written notice at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of 
termination. 

 
5. Indemnity.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, COB agrees to defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless YKHC for any and all claims, losses, lawsuits, and liabilities, including but not 
limited to attorney’s fees, arising from the negligence or intentional misconduct of COB or its 

50



3 
 

agents, representatives, employees, or principals.  COB’s obligations under this paragraph are 
effective only to the extent that COB is legally bound to maintain such obligations.  

 
6. Insurance.  The benefit of the Federal Tort Claims Act may be used to meet any and all liability 

requirements of this Agreement in lieu of a commercially purchased policy; however, the 
COB-FD will be required to provide the following insurance policies and provide certificates 
indicating same: 

 
a. Professional General Liability Insurance with a minimum policy limit of $1,000,000 (one 

million U.S. Dollars) per occurrence and $3,000,000 (three million U.S. dollars) aggregate. 
 

b. General Liability Insurance with a minimum policy limit of $1,000,000 (one million U.S. 
dollars) aggregate, with YKHC included as additional insured;  
 

c. Worker’s Compensation meeting the minimum requirements of the State of Alaska and a 
waiver of subrogation;  
 

d. Automobile insurance, if applicable to position, with limits of no less than $1,000,000 (one 
million U.S. dollars) per accident. 
 

e. Both parties agree to notify each other as soon as possible, in writing, of any incident, 
occurrence, or claim arising of or in connection with this Agreement which could result in 
a liability or claim of liability to the other party. 
 

7. Federal Tort Claims Act.  Nothing in this Agreement will be construed to limit or in any way 
prejudice YKHC’s claim to protection from suit based on the Federal Tort Claims Act as it may 
apply to YKHC by 25 U.S.C. §1621f(d), 25 U.S.C. 1680c (d), or P.L. 101-513 & 314, as amended 
by P.L. 103-138 & 308.  YKHC similarly reserves to itself to any other protection, including 
protection from suit based on common law immunities.  Similarly, the COB reserves any 
protection from suit available to the City, including immunity. 
 

8. Discrimination.  Each party shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations relating to 
discrimination, which may include those such as Title IX of the Education Amendments of 
1972, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, all as 
amended.  This compliance also includes non-discrimination based on classifications such as 
race, color, religion, sex, sexual and/or gender orientation, national origin, age and disability. 

 
9. Confidentiality.  The COB, its employees and representatives agree to keep confidential from 

third parties all information which relates to or identifies a particular patient, including, but 
not limited to, name, address, medical treatment or condition, financial status or any other 
personal information which is deemed confidential according to applicable state and federal 
laws, regulations and standards of professional ethics (“confidential information”).  A COB-
FD employees will comply with all applicable HIPAA laws and, if provided, COB shall sign a 
Business Associates Agreement. 

51



4 
 

10. Disputes.   
(1) Joint Tele-Conference.  Should an issue arise, the party believing itself to be aggrieved 

shall provide written notice to the other party within ten (10) calendar days of the alleged 
grievance.  Upon receipt of the grievance, the parties will schedule a teleconference to 
attempt to resolve the issue.  The teleconference shall occur within fourteen (14) calendar 
days of the grievance being reported. 
 

(2) Face-to-Face Meeting.  If the parties are unable to resolve the matter during the 
teleconference, they shall schedule a face-to-face meeting.  Said meeting shall be 
attended by those persons from COB and YKHC empowered to resolve the matter. The 
meeting shall occur within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the notice of grievance 
was presented, unless otherwise extended by mutual consent of the parties.  Such 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.   
 

(3) Third Party Mediation.  Should the face-to-face meeting fail to resolve the matter, the 
parties agree to submit the matter to mediation in Anchorage.  The matter will be referred 
to a professional mediation service who shall submit a list of five (5) qualified mediators.  
The party filing the grievance shall have the right to strike one name, and then the other 
party shall have the right to strike one name, and so forth until one remains to mediate 
the dispute.   
 

(4) Legal Action.  Nothing in this section shall affect either party’s right to pursue legal action 
in a court of competent jurisdiction in order to resolve a dispute arising under this 
Agreement.  The parties agree that neither the discussions or any recommendations in 
the formal joint conference, nor the discussions and results of the third party mediation 
shall be admissible in any legal proceedings and that those proceedings shall be de novo 
proceedings on the matter in dispute. 
 

11. Notice.  All notices required by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be served on the 
parties at the following addresses.  The mailing of a notice by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, shall be sufficient evidence of service.   
 

YKHC 
Attn: General Counsel 

PO Box 528 
Bethel AK 99559 

 
City of Bethel 

Attn: City Manager 
PO Box 1388 

Bethel AK 99559-1388 
 

12. Amendment.  This Agreement may only be modified or amended by a subsequent written 
Agreement signed by both parties. 

52



5 
 

13. Severability.  Both parties agree that if any provisions of this Agreement shall be wholly or 
partially invalid or unenforceable under applicable law, that provision shall be ineffective to 
that extent only, without in any way affecting the remaining parts or provisions of this 
Agreement. 

 
14. Survival.  The parties’ obligations contained in paragraphs 5 and 8 shall survive termination 

of this Agreement.   
 

15. Non-Assignment.  Neither party shall assign, sell or transfer, in whole or in part, any of their 
rights or obligations under this Agreement without the express written consent of the other 
party.  Any unauthorized assignment of this Agreement shall immediately terminate this 
Agreement.   

 
16. No Third Party Beneficiary.  None of the provisions contained in this Agreement are intended 

by the parties, nor shall they be deemed to confer, any benefits to any person not a party to 
this Agreement. 

 
17. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 

relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes any and all prior oral or 
written agreements, commitments or understandings. 

 
18. Duly Authorized Representative.  As used in this Agreement, a party means the party’s duly 

authorized representative. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the dates shown below. 
 
CITY OF BETHEL      YUKON-KUSKOKWIM HEALTH 
        CORPORATION 
 
 
              
Peter A. Williams      Dan Winkelman 
City Manager       President and CEO 
 
Date:         Date:       
 
  

53



6 
 

Addendum 1 
 
Patient care duties which YKHC agrees to train and allow COB-FD members to provide in 
accordance with their scope of practice under State law and YKHC policies and procedures are as 
follows:  
 
I. EMT-1 
 
Academic Level: State of Alaska Certification: EMT 1 
Experience Level: Basic 
 
Clinical Rotations should encompass the following: 

 Vital Signs 

 Collecting data and/or assessments 

 Spinal Immobilization 

 Traction Splinting 

 Oxygen Administration 

 Sling and swathe application 

 Obstetrics (basic); 

 Dressing application; 

 Assist with the transportation of patients; 

 Wound care and irrigation; 

 Application of restraints in accordance with State and YKHC policy; 

 Bag Valve mask application; 

 Insertion of airway adjuncts (NPA/OPA); 

 Oral suctioning; 

 BLS-CPR; 

 Blood glucose monitoring; 

 Assist with administration of Epi-pen, aspirin, nitroglycerin (sublingual) and activated 
charcoal with Dr./RN/PA supervision 

 AED use 
 
II. EMT-2 
 
Academic Level: State of Alaska Certification: EMT 2 
Experience Level: Intermediate 
 
In addition to all EMT-1 level patient services, clinical Rotations should also encompass the 
following: 

 Obstetrics (intermediate); 

 Application of NIBP and SAO2 monitoring 

 Insertion of airway adjuncts (NPA/OPA, ET); 

 Ride-along with LifeMed 

54



7 
 

 IV insertions 

 Hang initial and additional NS or LR 

 Phlebotomy 

 Insertion of Intra-Osseous (IO) access 

 CPAP (after training) 
Give medication (only with Dr., RN and/or PA supervision) 
 
 
III. EMT-3 
 
Academic Level: State of Alaska Certification: EMT 3 
Experience Level: S 
 
In addition to all EMT-1 & EMT-2 level patient services, clinical Rotations should also encompass 
the following: 

 Cardioversion 

 AED and Manual Defibrillation 
 
IV. Paramedic 
Academic Level: State of Alaska Certification: Paramedic 
 

 In addition to all EMT-1, EMT-2 and EMT-3 level patient services, clinical Rotations should 
also encompass the following, as allowed under 12 AAC 40.370Electrocardiographic 
monitoring and defibrillation; 

 Initiating and maintaining intravenous routes using approved intravenous techniques and 
solutions; 

 Performing endotracheal intubation and pulmonary ventilation by approved methods; 

 Performing gastric suction by intubation; 

 Obtaining blood for laboratory analysis; 

 Administering parenterally, orally, or topically any approved agents or solutions; 

 Use of pneumatic anti-shock devices; and 

 Performing other emergency procedures authorized by a sponsoring physician. 
 

55



1 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title:   Authorizing the City Manager to negotiate and execute a Purchase Agreement with the 
lowest bidder for Crushed Gravel.   

Attachment(s):  Draft Purchase Agreement 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Pete Williams, City Manager PW approve 

Patty Burley, City Attorney   PB   Complies with BMC; no legal concerns 

Bill Arnold, Public Works Director   BA 
  Approve 

Bo Foley, Purchasing Agent   BF 
   Approve 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

No fiscal impact at this time. 

10-66-771, 52-50-775 
52-55-775 

Funds in City Budget. ~ $430,000 

Funds not in City Budget. 

Summary Statement: 
On August 30, 2018, the City of Bethel issued a Request for Bids for C-1 and D-1 gravel.  During the 
RFB, 3 addenda were issued.  The RFB closed on September 26, 2018 with 2 responses.   

Responses received: 

Responder C-1 D-1/E-1  Total/Ton 
Knik Construction $55 $68   $123 
Faulkner Walsh $78 $78   $156 

As the lowest bidder, the City of Bethel chose Knik Construction. 

Action memorandum No. 

Date action introduced:  October 9, 2018 Introduced by: City Manager Williams 

Date action taken:  Approved  Denied 

Confirmed by: 

18-67

56



Purchase Agreement 
 

This Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into this 11th day of  
October 2018 by and between the City of Bethel, a municipal corporation (hereinafter 
“Buyer or “City”) and Knik Construction Company, Inc. (hereinafter “Seller”).  Buyer and 
Seller may be referred to in this Agreement individually as a “Party” and/or collectively as 
the “Parties.”   
 
The Parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Sale of D-1 and C-1 Gravel.  Seller agrees to sell and City agrees to purchase a 

minimum of 6,900 tons of D-1 Gravel annually and 300 tons of C-1 gravel annually 
throughout the term of this Agreement pursuant to the provisions and specifications 
identified in the City’s Request for Bid for Crushed Gravel dated August 30, 2018, as 
well as Addendum #1, dated September 9, 2018, Addendum #2, dated September 17, 
2018, and Addendum #3, dated September 18, 2018 and Seller’s bid proposal 
submitted September 26, 2018 all of which are attached hereto and incorporated as 
part of this Agreement.  
 
All gravel provided by Seller shall adhere to the following minimum specifications:  
 

GRAVEL SPECIFICATIONS 
Percent Passing by Weight 

 

Aggregate shall be crushed stone or crushed gravel, and shall consist of sound, tough, durable 

pebbles or rock fragments of uniform quality. All material shall be free from clay balls, 

vegetable matter or other deleterious matter. Fractured stone shall have a minimum of two (2) or 

more fractured faces and a maximum of one (1) rounded face. The percentage of wear of the 

aggregate shall be a maximum of 50 as measured by AASHTO Test No. T96. Degradation Value 

shall be a minimum of 45 as determined by Alaska Test Method T-13. Percent Fracture shall be a 

minimum of 90 when tested in accordance with Alaska Test Method T-4. Gradations shall 

conform to the following requirements as determined by Alaska Test Method T-7: 

 
Sieve Designation C-1  D-1 

2” 100  ----- 

1-1/2” 95-100  ----- 

1” -----  100 

¾” 55-75  70-100 

3/8” -----  50-80 

No. 4 35-50  35-65 

No. 8 -----  20-50 

No. 10 14-30  ------ 

No. 40 3-18  8-30 

No. 200 0-8  0-6 

    

57



** City reserves the right to reject and/or revoke acceptance of any gravel that does not 
meet the specifications provided for in this Agreement.   
 
2. Purchase Price.  Buyer will pay Seller as follows: 

C-1 Gravel (or 3” minus subbase) = Fifty Five ($55) Dollars per ton 
D-1 or E-1 Crushed Gravel = Sixty-Eight ($68) Dollars per ton 
 

3. Method of Payment.  Seller shall submit an itemized invoice to City no less than 
monthly and no more frequently than daily.  Each invoice shall have attached copies 
of the scale tickets showing the amount of Gravel removed per truck, date of removal, 
and information showing the truck belonged to the City of Bethel.  Payment will be 
processed promptly by City upon receipt of invoice and in no event will payment be 
issued more than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of invoice. 

 
All invoices must be submitted and addressed as follows: 
Public Works Director      
City of Bethel Public Works     
PO Box 1388       
Bethel, AK 99559-1388      
 
Except as provided in this Purchase Agreement, the City shall not provide any 
additional compensation, payment, service or other thing of value to Seller in 
connection with performance of this Agreement.  The parties understand and agree 
that, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all costs, whether indirect or 
direct, incurred by Seller have been built into the Purchase Price. 
 

4. Process for Transferring Gravel.  Seller shall manufacture and stockpile gravel in 
Seller’s yard.  The gravel shall be available for inspection by City at the yard.  Within 
forty-eight (48) hours of a request by the City for inspection and pick-up, Seller shall 
make gravel available to City for inspection.  Upon approval of the gravel, Seller shall  
load the gravel into City trucks.  Gravel will be weighed by Seller in Seller’s yard before 
it is accepted by Buyer.  Acceptance of the gravel occurs after (a) City has inspected 
it; and (b) Seller has loaded it; and (c) City has removed it from Seller’s yard.   
 

5. Taxes.  Seller shall be responsible for payment of all federal, state and local taxes 
incurred as a result of this Purchase-Sale Agreement.  
 

6. Indemnification.  Seller is solely responsible for all loss, damage or liability arising 
from procurement of the gravel prior to sale.  Seller is responsible for the quality of the 
gravel.  Except for the sole negligence of the City and except for liability for loss or 
damage to the gravel itself which City will assume upon transfer of the gravel to its 
possession, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Seller shall defend, indemnify 
and hold harmless City from any and all claims demands, losses, and liabilities to or 
by any third party, including, but not limited to costs, attorney’s fees, expenses and 
claims for any damages, contributions, or indemnification arising from, resulting from, 
or connected with contract services or supplies provided by, or performed under this 

58



Agreement by the Seller, it’s agents, sub-contractors, suppliers, and employees, even 
though such claims may prove to be false, groundless, or fraudulent.  The 
indemnification obligation under this Agreement shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable to or 
for any third party, or any employee under any worker’s compensation act, disability 
benefit act, or other employee benefit act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall 
not be liable for any indirect, consequential, or special damages of any type or nature 
howsoever arising, and whether or not foreseeable. 

 
Entitlement to recovery of costs, attorney fees and expenses under the indemnification 
obligation shall include all fees, costs, and expenses incurred in good faith by City. 

 
7. Seller’s Representations.  Seller represents and warrants that he/she has good and 

marketable title to the Gravel and full authority to sell the Gravel. Seller also represents 
that the Gravel is sold free and clear of all liens, indebtedness, or liabilities.  Seller 
further represents that all Gravel sold meets or exceeds the minimum specifications 
set out in Section 1 above.     

 
8. Termination for Convenience.  In addition to terminations for cause as provided for 

in this Agreement, City or Buyer may unilaterally terminate this Agreement at any time 
without cause by providing sixty (60) calendar days written notice.  In that event, all 
pending invoices be processed and final payments rendered.  Termination of this 
Agreement, either with or without cause, shall not form the basis for loss of anticipated 
profits by either party. 

 
9. Termination for Non-Availability of Government Funds.  If the City Council fails to 

appropriate sufficient funds or to authorize the expenditure of sufficient funds to 
continue service under this Agreement, City may submit a written notice to Seller 
terminating this Agreement.  Such notice shall be in writing and shall be not less than 
thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of termination.  The notice shall include a 
written statement documenting the reason for termination and an official document 
certifying the non-availability of funds (e.g., city council action; official budget or other 
official government document).  City shall be liable to Seller for all charges and costs 
incurred for products and/or services prior to the effective date of the termination.   

 
10. Termination for Cause.  If, through any cause, Seller shall fail to fulfill in a timely and 

proper manner the obligations under this Agreement, then City shall thereafter have 
the right to immediately terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Seller and 
specifying the effective date thereof.  In that event, all finished or unfinished 
deliverable items under this Agreement shall, at the option of the City, become its 
property, and Seller shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for 
any satisfactory materials provided.  In such event, Seller shall not be relieved of 
liability to the City for damages sustained by the City by virtue of any breach of this 
Agreement, and the City may withhold any payment due Seller for the purpose of 
setoff until such time as the exact amount of damages due the City from such breach 
can be determined. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall be entitled to not 

59



less than fifteen (15) calendar days written notice to cure any reasonably 
curable condition alleged to constitute a default by City before a breach of this 
Agreement shall be declared by City as a result thereof.   

 
In case of default by Seller, the City may procure the gravel from other sources and hold 
Seller responsible for any excess cost occasioned thereby.  In addition, in the event of 
default by Seller under this Agreement, or upon the Seller filing a petition for bankruptcy 
or the entering of a judgment of bankruptcy by or against the Seller, the City may 
immediately cease doing business with Seller, immediately terminate for cause all 
existing contracts the City has with Seller, and de-bar Seller from doing future business 
with the City. 

 
11. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Alaska. 
 

12. Modification.  The Parties may mutually agree to modify the terms of this Agreement.  
Modifications to the Agreement shall be incorporated into the Agreement by written 
amendments. 

 
13. Disputes.  In an effort to resolve any conflicts that arise between the Parties under 

this Agreement, the Buyer and Seller agree that all disputes between them arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be submitted first to nonbinding mediation. 

 
14. Severability.  If any section or clause of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of 

competent jurisdiction, or is otherwise invalid under the law, the remainder of this 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  

 
15. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon 

Buyer and Seller and their respective successors and assigns. 
 

16. Headings.  The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and 
in no way define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this 
Agreement.   

 
17. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement shall be the exclusive agreement between the 

Parties and supersedes any and all prior oral or written agreements or understandings 
between the Parties concerning the subject matter of this Agreement.   

 
18. Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same document.  

 
19. Facsimile Signatures.  The delivery of signatures to this Agreement by facsimile 

transmission shall be binding as original signatures. 
 
KNIK CONSTRUCTION CO., INC.   CITY OF BETHEL [BUYER] 

60



 
 
              
By: Parry Rekers      By: Peter A. Williams 
Vice President      City Manager 
 
 

61



1  

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 
 

 

Action Title:   Authorizing the City Manager to negotiate and execute a Management and Operations 
Agreement with Bethel Friends of Canines.   
 
Attachment(s):  Draft Management and Operations Agreement 
 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Pete Williams, City Manager PW approve 

Patty Burley, City Attorney   PB   Complies with BMC; no legal concerns 

 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information: 

xx No fiscal impact at this time. 

 
Even trade fiscally 

  Funds in City Budget.  

  Funds not in City Budget.   

 
Summary Statement: 
This Agreement formalizes the previous Memorandum of Understanding between the City and 
Bethel Friends of Canines for the provision of services at the City’s pound.  This Agreement sets out 
the terms under which Bethel Friends of Canines will provide certain services to the City such as 
feeding and watering animals housed at the pound, cleaning the cages and facilitating adoption for 
those animals that go unclaimed. 
 
Because of the large amount of donated pet food which Bethel Friends of Canines receives, the City 
will benefit with reduced costs for food.  Additionally, the services provided by Bethel Friends of 
Canines will relieve CSO’s, allowing them more time to be on the street looking for stray, abandoned 
and abused animals.  
 
 
 
 

Action memorandum No. 18-68 
Date action introduced:  October 9, 2018 Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 

Date action taken:     Approved         Denied 

Confirmed by:  

62



Page 1 of 8 
 

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

 

 

This MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”)  is made 

this    day of October, 2018, effective November 1, 2018, by and between THE 

CITY OF BETHEL (hereinafter “City”) and BETHEL FRIENDS OF CANINE 

(hereinafter “Friends”).   

 

The Parties acknowledge this Agreement is in their mutual best interests and as such the 

Parties  agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. SERVICES 

1.1 Services. Commencing on the effective date of this Agreement, Friends will 

provide and render such services as are necessary for the care of all animals 

housed at the City’s municipal Pound and, as more specifically described below 

shall: 

 

a. Feed and provide fresh potable water to all animals housed at the City’s 

municipal Pound a minimum of twice daily with one visit being in the 

morning hours and one visit being in the late afternoon or early evening 

hours; 

b. Provide general exercise for the dogs housed at the City’s municipal Pound 

at least twice daily; 

c. Maintain all kennels in a clean and safe condition; 

d. Administer and supervise an animal adoption program, including 

bookkeeping, record keeping, and reporting functions as they pertain to the 

business of the City; 

e. Cooperate with City and the Yukon Kuskokwim Health Corporation 

(YKHC) in securing the PETCO grant for additional veterinary services for 

Bethel and the Region; 

 

1.2 Working Time.  While the method of work shall be Friend’s own, it is expected 

by both parties that Friends shall devote a sufficient number of working hours 

as needed to the provision of the Services outlined in this Agreement to ensure 

the animals entrusted into the care of both the City and Friends receive care that 

exceeds the minimum. 

 

FRIENDS WILL DEVELOP, IN COORDINATION WITH CITY, A 

COVERAGE SCHEDULE FOR EACH MONTH NO LATER THAN THE 

20TH DAY OF THE PREVIOUS MONTH. THE COVERAGE SCHEDULE 

WILL OUTLINE COVERAGE FOR BOTH THE MORNING AND LATE 

AFTERNOON/EVENING CARE OF THE ANIMALS IN THE POUND.  

CONTACT NUMBERS IN CASE OF ILLNESS AND A LIST OF 

EMERGENCY BACK-UPS SHALL BE INCLUDED IN THE SCHEDULE.   

 

63



Page 2 of 8 
 

ADDITIONALLY, FRIENDS WILL DEVELOP A CARE CHECKLIST FOR 

ALL ANIMALS TO BE USED BY BOTH FRIENDS STAFF AND CITY 

STAFF TO ENSURE THAT ANIMALS ARE PROPERLY CARED FOR ON 

EACH VISIT. 

 

1.3 Notice of Inability to Perform/Provide Services.  Friends shall inform City as 

soon as reasonably practicable if Friends will be unable to provide any of the 

above services due to injury, illness or unavailability of staffing and/or 

volunteer(s). Whenever possible, Friends will secure coverage among its own 

membership.  At a minimum, Friends will be responsible for 1 shift per day 

(either morning or later afternoon, early evening).    

 

2. TERM and TERMINATION 

2.1 Term.  This Agreement shall commence on November 1, 2018 and reflects 

understandings reached between the parties as of such date.  This Agreement 

shall continue subject to the provisions set out in Section 2.3 below, for a period 

of twenty (20) years [October 31, 2028] or until terminated by either party by 

giving to the other no less than ninety (90) days written notice.   

 

2.2 Termination Due to Termination of Lease.  This Agreement shall run with a 

Lease for land.  Should the land lease be terminated for any reason, this 

Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the termination of the Lease. 

 

2.3 Termination for Cause.  If, through any cause, Friends shall fail to fulfill in a 

timely and proper manner the obligations under this Agreement, then City shall 

thereafter have the right to immediately  terminate this Agreement by giving 

written notice to Friends and specifying the effective date thereof.  In such 

event, Friends shall not be relieved of liability to the City for damages sustained 

by the City by virtue of any breach of this Agreement, and the City may 

withhold any payment due Friends for the purpose of setoff until such time as 

the exact amount of damages due the City from such breach can be determined. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Friends shall be entitled to not less than thirty 

(30) days written notice to cure any reasonably curable condition alleged to 

constitute a default by City before a breach of this Agreement shall be declared 

by City as a result thereof. 

 

2.4 Termination by City.  City, by action of its City Manager, shall have the right, 

at its sole discretion, to terminate this Agreement upon the occurrence of the 

filing for the benefit of creditors by Friends, or the taking or suffering of any 

action by Friends, voluntarily or involuntarily, under any federal or state law 

for the benefit of debtors by Friends, except for the filing of a petition in 

involuntary bankruptcy against Friends which is dismissed within sixty (60) 

days thereafter; 

 

3. Compensation.  In consideration of the provision of the services described in this 

Agreement by Bethel Friends of K9, the City shall pay to Friends a monthly fee of One 

64



Page 3 of 8 
 

($1) Dollar.  Additionally, the City shall provide the following supplies and ensure they 

remain in stock: 

a. Dog Food; 

b. Cat Food; 

c. Cat Litter; 

d. Dog Licenses; 

e.  

 

4. Oversight by City.  City shall retain all powers incident to ownership of the Facility, 

including, without limitation, the power to: 

a. Determine the general and fiscal policies and maintain full and complete control 

of the administration of the Pound; 

b. Select the City personnel assigned to work at the Pound; 

c. Establish policies regarding the care and adoption of animals brought into the 

Pound by the City; 

d. Determine the priority of use in situations where there is overcrowding at the 

Pound facility. 

 

5. Standards of Performance.  Friends shall be expected to perform services under this 

Agreement consistent with standards employed by humane societies and/or similar 

animal shelters. 

 

6. Acknowledgment of Charitable Purpose.  Friends shall conduct its business and 

operations of the Pound in such a manner as to satisfy the charitable purposes generally 

required of the Internal Revenue Service under Section 501(c)(3).  The City reserves 

the right to review whether Friends has conducted the business and operations of the 

Pound in compliance with charitable standards. 

 

7. Independent Contractor.  The parties agree that there are no, and there will not be, any 

employer-employee relations between the City and Friends or any of Friends 

employees or volunteers.  Friends and all of its employees and volunteers shall be 

deemed independent contractors of the City for all intents and purposes hereunder.  The 

termination of this Agreement (for any reason, whether lawful or unlawful) shall not 

constitute a dismissal by the City of Friends or any employee or volunteer of Friends 

for any purpose.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a formal 

partnership between the City and Friends.   

 

If, despite the parties’ express representations and agreements hereunder, it shall, at 

any time, be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that employer-employee 

relations exist between the City and Friends in connection with this Agreement, and as 

a result of such decision Friends shall become entitled to rights and/or payments 

resulting from the existence of such relations, Friends shall undertake to indemnify the 

City for any payment and expense actually paid or required to be paid by the City in 

connection with such decision to the fullest extent permitted by law.   

 

65



Page 4 of 8 
 

8. Compliance with Law.  In performing its duties and obligations under this Agreement, 

Friends shall comply with (i) all federal, state and local laws, rules, and regulations 

now in force, or which may hereafter be in force, which are applicable to the City or 

the Pound, and (ii) all City and Pound policies, procedures, rules, and regulations. 

 

9. Insurance.  Friend’s shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies 

lawfully authorized to do business in the State of Alaska as admitted insurers or surplus 

lines insurers approved by the City, such insurance as will protect the City from claims 

set forth below and others, which may arise out of or as a result from Friend’s 

operations under this Agreement, whether such operations are by Friends, a volunteer 

of Friends or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone 

for whose acts any of them may be liable. Restrictions, conditions or exclusions 

contained in the insurance policies shall not reduce the obligations of Friends under 

this Agreement. 

 

(a) Claims under worker’s compensation, employers liability, disability benefits, and 

other similar employee benefit acts which are applicable to the work to be 

performed under this Agreement. 

Claims for damages because of bodily injury, mental anguish, sickness, disease or 

death of any person other than Friends’ employees or volunteers. 

 

Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability insurance coverage 

which are sustained (1) by a person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly 

related to the employment of such person by Friends, or (2) by any other person or 

entity. 
 
 Claims for damages, other than to the product supplied, or to the services 

 performed, itself because of damage to or destruction of tangible property, 

 including loss of use resulting there from. 

 

Claims for damages because of bodily injury, including death of a person, or 

damage to property arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor 

vehicle. 

  

Claims involving Friends’ usual obligations and assumption of liability under this 

Agreement. 

 

Liability insurance shall include at a minimum, all major divisions of coverage and 

be on a commercial general liability form including: 

 

  Premises/Operations Liability 

  Products/Completed Operations Liability 

  Personal/Advertising Injury Liability 

  Fire Damage Liability 

  Medical Payments  
  

66



Page 5 of 8 
 

(b) The insurance required shall be written for not less than the limits listed in (c) 

below or those limits required by law, whichever limit is higher.   Insurance, 

whether written on an occurrence, or a claims-made basis, shall be maintained 

without interruption from the date of commencement of the lease to the date of 

final occupancy or termination. 

 

(c) The insurance required shall be written for not less than the following limits: 
 

1. Worker’s Compensation Insurance:    

 Statutory Requirements of the State of Alaska, and  

Employer Liability Insurance limits of:     

 $500,000.00 each accident. 

  $500,000.00 disease each employee. 

  $500,000.00 disease policy limit. 
 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance: Form CG0001 04/13 or 

equivalent. 

  $1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit of Liability per Occurrence 

$1,000,000.00 Personal/Advertising Injury Limit of Liability per 

Occurrence 

  $2,000,000.00 Annual General Aggregate Limit of Liability 

$2,000,000.00 Annual Products/Completed Operations Aggregate Limit of                                                                  

  Liability 

  $100,000.00 Fire Damage Limit of Liability Any One Fire 

  $5,000.00 Medical Payment Limit Any One Person 

 

3. Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance: Form CA0001 03/10 or 

equivalent. 

  $1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit of Liability per Accident 

  For all Owned, Hired, and Non-Owned Vehicles.   

 

(d) Worker’s compensation insurance and employers liability insurance shall be in 

compliance with the statutory requirements of the State of Alaska, and any other 

statutory obligation, whether federal or state pertaining to compensation of injured 

employees.  The worker’s compensation insurance and employers liability 

insurance shall contain a waiver of subrogation provision in favor of the City of 

Bethel. 
 

(e) The commercial general liability insurance shall name The City of Bethel as an 

additional insured as respects this Agreement. 
 

(f) Friends’ required insurance is subject to review and adjustment by the City, who 

may require reasonable changes in the amounts and types of insurance based upon 

changes of risk.  Friends shall be provided a written explanation for any such 

changes. 
 

(g) Certificates of insurance acceptable to City shall be filed with City prior to the 

commencement of the beginning of the Agreement.   

67



Page 6 of 8 
 

 

If any of the insurance policies required above are canceled for any reason, Friends 

shall provide immediate notice to City of the cancellation and either provide:  

evidence of replacement or notice of reinstatement.  

 

This evidence of replacement or notice of reinstatement shall be delivered to City 

prior to the scheduled cancellation date. Failure of Friends to comply with this 

provision shall terminate this Agreement immediately.  

 

Immediate notice means that Friends shall notify City, by facsimile or by certified 

mail within five (5) calendar days of receipt of the cancellation notice from the 

insurance company, by Friends.  
 

Notice described above shall be delivered to the following location:  

 

 City of Bethel 

 Legal Department 

 PO Box 1388 

 300 State Highway 

 Bethel, AK  99559-1388 

 

10. Indemnification.  City shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless City and its officers, 

directors, employees, and agents, against and in respect of any and all losses, claims, 

damages, causes of action, obligations, liabilities, deficiencies, suits, proceedings, 

actual out-of-pocket obligations and expenses (including cost of investigation, interest, 

penalties and reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising out of or due to the operation of the 

Pound by Friends, its employees, affiliates, agents, servants and/or volunteers under 

the provisions of this Agreement.  The obligations set forth under this Section 9 shall 

survive for a period of one (1) year following the Expiration Date.   

 

11. Non-Discrimination.  Friends will not discriminate against any employee, applicant for 

employment, volunteer, pet applicant, or pet owner because of race, color, religion, sex, 

sexual identity, sexual orientation, national origin, handicap, pregnancy, parenthood, 

age, marital status, status as a disabled veteran, or veteran of the Vietnam War era.   

 

12. Notices.  Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to 

any Party under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly 

delivered, given and received when delivered (by hand or by certified mail) to the 

address set forth beneath the name of such Party below (or to such other address as 

such Party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other Parties hereto): 

 

CITY      FRIENDS 

City of Bethel 

Attn: City Manager 

PO Box 1388 

Bethel AK 99559-1388 

 

68



Page 7 of 8 
 

with duplicate copy to: 

 

City of Bethel 

Attn: Legal Department 

PO Box 1388 

Bethel AK 99559-1388 

 

13. Miscellaneous Provisions.   

 

13.1 Access to the Pound.  During the term of this Agreement, City shall retain 

complete access to the Pound (Facility), and any records, supplies or materials 

stored therein.  

13.2 All of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon, insure 

to the benefit of, and be enforceable by each of the parties hereto and their 

respective successors and assigns.   

13.3 Assignment.  This Agreement may not be assigned by City or Friends.   

13.4 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of separate 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument.   

13.5 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 

the parties with respect to the matters referred to herein and any and all previous 

agreements are hereby terminated and shall have no further force or effect. 

13.6 Force Majeure.  If any party’s performance is prevented, hindered or delayed 

by reason of any cause(s) beyond such party’s reasonable control which cannot 

be overcome by reasonable diligence, including, without limitation, war, labor 

disputes, civil disorders, governmental acts, epidemics, embargoes, fires, 

earthquakes, storms or acts of God, such party shall be excused from 

performance to the extent that it is prevented, hindered or delayed thereby, 

during the continuance of such cause(s); and such party’s obligations hereunder 

shall be excused so long as and to the extent that such cause(s) prevent or delay 

performance.   

13.7 Governing Law.  All matters affecting the interpretation of this Agreement and 

the rights of the parties hereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Alaska without regard to its conflict of laws principles.   

13.8 Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and 

shall not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.   

13.9 Independent Covenants.  Each of the respective rights and obligations of the 

parties hereunder shall be deemed independent and may be enforced 

independently irrespective of any of the other rights and obligations set forth 

herein.  No waivers, express or implied, by either party of any breach of any of 

the covenants, agreements or duties hereunder of the other party shall be 

deemed to be a waiver of any other breach thereof or the waiver of any other 

covenant, agreement or duty.   

13.10 Modification.  Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof shall be 

amended or modified (or deemed amended or modified), except by agreement, 

in writing, duly executed and acknowledged by both parties. 

69



Page 8 of 8 
 

13.11 Return of Information.  Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, each 

party shall return all of the other party’s books, records, and/or documents.  This 

section shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.   

13.12 Severability.  Should any provision of this Agreement be found void or 

unenforceable, the remainder hereof nevertheless shall continue in full force 

and effect.  A new provision shall be amended to this Agreement that is similar 

to the provision found unenforceable but which is enforceable.   

13.13 Waiver of Trial by Jury.  EACH PARTY HERETO IRREVOCABLY 

WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO DEMAND THAT 

ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING, CLAIM, OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING 

OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE 

RELATIONSHIPS OF THE PARTIES HERETO BE TRIED BY A JURY.  

THIS WAIVER EXTENDS TO ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO DEMAND AT 

RIAL BY JURY ARISING FROM ANY SOURCE, INCLUDING, BUT NOT 

LIMITED TO, THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OR ANY 

STATE THEREIN, COMMON LAW OR ANY APPLICABLE STATUTE OR 

REGULATIONS.  EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT 

IS KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVING ITS RIGHT TO 

DEMAND TRIAL BY JURY.   

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Management Services 

Agreement effective as of the date first written above.  

 

CITY OF BETHEL     BETHEL FRIENDS OF K9 

 

 

 

             

Peter A. Williams 

City Manager 

 

Date:       Date:     

 

 

 

70



1 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Authorize and approve City Administration to issue checks to Quarter 3 
Community Action Grant awardees based on the Community Action Grant Committee’s work 
on scoring applications and deciding how to divide up the funds available. 

Attachment(s): None. 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration / Peter Williams 

Finance / Cindy Sharp 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

No fiscal impact at this time. 
$7,770 Funds in City Budget. 10-72-760 

Requires funding in FY 2019 Budget. 

Summary Statement 
The City of Bethel established the Community Action Grant Program (CAG) to allow community 
and individuals to request financial support for programs or events that contribute to the 
health, welfare, and overall quality of life for residents of Bethel, especially its most vulnerable 
populations. Funding for the program comes from 20% of the Alcohol Tax collected by the City. 
The Community Action Grant Technical Review Board was created to develop a process to 
solicit grant applications, review them, and recommend funding selections to City Council.  

The Committee accepted and scored two applications received during the open application 
period: August 24 to August 31, 2018. After the first review of applications on September 5, 
2018, the Committee sent each applicant questions for clarification and invited them to attend 
the following meeting on September 12, 2018, when the applications were scored and funding 
decisions made.  

Applicant and Project Summary Requested 
Recommended 

Award 

1. Bethel Freestyle Wrestling Club
Partially fund activities of the Bethel Wrestling Club. $5,500 $6,000 

2. Delta Illusions Dance Company
Fund dance instructor to travel to Bethel and lead dance classes for local 
residents.  

$21,000 $1,770 

Action memorandum No. 

Date action introduced: Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 

Date action taken: Approved Denied 

Confirmed by: 

18-69
October 9, 2018

71



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

72



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

73



74



75



76



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77



MEMORANDUM 

 

DATE:         10.01.2018 

TO:   Peter Williams, City Manager 

FROM:  Bill Arnold, Public Works Director 

SUBJECT:  Manager’s Report – 

 

Programs/Divisions 

 

Public Works Director:  
The IC project is on schedule at this time and should be operational October 15, 2018.  

The wind turbine at the Aquatic Center was down for a month due to a break in the 

communication line between the turbine and the building. Due to the swampy areas around 

the power-poles the cable could not be replaced at this time. The City had TecPro come out 

and install radio communication between the turbine and the building; at this time it is up 

and running again.  

The city is in need of 6 new water trucks. Due to the age of the trucks we have, parts are 

not readily available and some parts are not produced any longer. Due to the long down 

time when something does break we fall behind on the hauled water routes. 

   

Hauled Utilities:  The month of September has been the most challenging time of 

the year with having not enough workers and not enough water trucks for the work. 

The 2nd and the 4th week of September I had to drive to keep up the services for the 

community. The last week of September we had two water trucks running the 

beginning of the week but everything caught up by the end of the month. We have 

had only minor incidents of flooding a resident. All the drivers done a wonderful 

job. Weekly reports are all caught up now. 

     Even the community has seen the worst of all this past last week of the month 

all the water drivers have done a wonderful job putting in their time to keep up the 

work. We need newer and more reliable water service trucks that are more reliable 

to complete all the services required for the daily schedule services. 

      We lost one good worker by transfer to another department. But all in all we 

are still doing what it takes to keep the community happy. 

 

Utility Maintenance:   

 Changed out hydrant valves and fixed water line in ASHA housing. 

 Installed basin at the teen center lift station. 

 Assisted Streets and Roads division with the asphalt demolition on 

Ptarmigan 

 Station checks, red light checks as per usual. 

 Ran heat trace on waterline for the City Shop. 

78



 Some employees took PTO for the moose hunt. 

 

 

Property Maintenance: 

  

 Worked on Owl Park fencing 

 Worked on constructing Basketball court at Owl Park 

 Serviced boilers in buildings with only 1 source of heat, cleaned and got them 

ready for winter service. 

 Painted fuel tanks with identification labels- all buildings 

 Monthly extinguisher checks 

 Set hoop at Owl Park basketball court 

 Fixed toyo stove at Utilities Maintenance 

 Cleaned boilers at PW, Fire Station, Bethel Heights water treatment plant, 

Transit. 

 Buried picnic tables at Owl Park so they could not be used to climb on the roof 

of the shelter. 

 

Parks and Recreation: 

    

 Fixed fencing at Tundra Ridge Park, multiple times. 

 Cleaned parks throughout the city. 

 Cut brush various locations throughout city. 

 Worked on chain saws and grass cutters, prepped for next season. 

 Cut grass at baseball field 

 

 

 

Road Maintenance: 

 

Streets and Roads is now finished with hauling gravel from Knik yard to the city 

shop for the year. We hauled 350 dump truck loads to the shop pile for 

maintenance on the road, and 91 loads to use on Ptarmigan Street when we took 

the pavement off the road, to use in its place.          

 Streets and Roads hauled 38 dump truck loads of gravel from Knik for the landfill 

road on top of the dike. We built the road around the top of the dike with the 160M 

grader, so when it is muddy it will still be drivable in order to get to the back.    

 Streets and Roads has also been hauling to the salt sand pile with salt from the city 

sand pit as we have time. It looks like we will be hauling for a little over a week 

79



before we will have this winter’s salt sand.    

 Streets and Roads last week did get the 1600 feet of asphalt tore up on Ptarmigan 

Street with the 324E Cat excavator and hauled away. We then hauled in 91 dump 

truck loads of gravel to replace what we tore up on Ptarmigan, and graded it. 

 

 

Vehicles and Equipment: 

  

The last two weeks of September have been difficult to say the least. We have had 

several major mechanical failures. These trucks are getting older and older and 

trying to find parts for them is getting harder and harder. Obsolete is what we keep 

running into. There are so many different years, makes and  models that we can not 

keep everything in stock. If we have parts A, B, and C on the shelf than D, E, and 

F will fail. We are working hard to build our inventory and preparing ourselves 

better for the future. I have been in contact with the company that builds our water 

and sewer trucks and we are working together to see about getting a little different 

design that will help with parts being readily available. We still have a Mechanic II 

position open- that doesn’t seem to be getting much interest. Though this is only 

my second month as V&E Foreman I feel we as a team have made great strides in 

a positive direction to make this department more functional.  

 

Transit System:  

 
The good news is that Human Resource was able to hire a new Part-Time bus driver.  He came 

to work September 17, 2018 spent the week in training and is now driving by himself.  He’s very 

positive and I think he’ll get along great with the passengers. 

We have closed out FY 2018 and the State (DOT) has accepted all of the monthly Billing 

Summaries.  The City should be receiving the final grant payments soon.  DOT is requiring 

several other reports and agreements before we are able to start submitting the FY 19 Billing 

Summaries.  I’m starting to work on the July and August but will have to wait to submit them 

until DOT has received the reports. There are two other major reports, NTD (National 

Transportation Data) and the 4th Quarterly Report, that have to be completed and sent in by 

the end of October.  I’m starting to work on them.  With the hiring of the new part time driver, I 

should have more time to work on them. 

The buses are racking up the miles and time.  Bus 439 was purchase in October of 2014 and has 

133,000+ miles, Bus 438 was purchased in 2008 and has 123,000+, and Bus 436 was purchase in 

2008 and has 144,000+.  With the road conditions and weather in this area, the buses are fast 

exceeding their life expectancy.  

80



We are currently running only the Green Line, it starts at 6:30am and goes until 6:15pm, it 

starts at AC Store goes out to Tundra Ridge back down to U.P. Church then out to GCI/ONC and 

then back down to the Brown Slough Area(East Ave,) and then back to the AC Store,  Monday 

through Friday.  On Saturday, it runs the same route as Monday through Friday but only from 

9:30 am to 2:30pm.   

 

Landfill / Recycle Center: 

 

The landfill had a second inspection by DEC this last month. It was a lot better 

than the one this last spring. We have been hauling a lot of cover material to get 

everything covered as weather permitted. We got our gravel for the new landfill 

road and got it put down by the road crew. We had a small fire that came in a 

dumpster, it was extinguished in a big hurry.  

 

Water Plant Operations: 

The month of September has been a very busy month, with plumbers and 

electricians adding a new high Demand pump. Also added a new skid of pressure 

pumps. Plumbers getting close to connecting new institutional corridor loop. We 

also had our water storage tanks at CSWTP and BHWTP cleaned and inspected. 

We also turned our CCR certification report in to ADEC. We completed our lead 

and copper test at City Sub Water Plant. We also hold a daily safety meeting. 

Staffing Issues/Concerns/Training:  

 

   

 

81



Memorandum 
Date: September 25, 2018 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

September 2018 Current Events 

 

 Interim Purchasing Agent:  

For this month, I accepted responsibilities to handle the procurement officer’s duties on a 

temporary basis until such a time as a new procurement officer is appointed. As such I have 

been handling management on several request for bids and a request for proposal. Though it 

has been a learning process to absorb these duties, things appear to be on track for the closing 

dates on the items mentioned. 

 

 YK Fitness Center Server Installation:  

A new server will be installed within the next week at the YK Fitness center to provide them with 

a centralized and controlled location for files and other important data. More importantly, the 

data will be regularly backed up and under the City’s direct control and supervision whereas the 

previous environment had been more or less invisible.    

 

 Wind Turbine Still Inoperable:  

Currently the YK Fitness center wind turbine is still inoperable due to a severed connection 

between the building’s control system and the wind turbine itself. At this point, we will need to 

either repair or replace that line of communication so that Northern Power can resume 

management of the turbine. Unfortunately, no local entities remaining in Bethel (including GCI) 

handle running data cables and so the City will need to bring in contractors for this particular 

job. If it is ascertained that this data cable is not providing power to items in the turbine, the City 

might explore the option of making this bridge wireless.  

 

 Password on Public WiFi Signals:  

Due to a bit of reported abuse, a password has been added to all public City WiFi signals. The 

password is global and will be given out as requested. The purpose for this is to dissuade 

random “parking‐lot‐users”.  

 

 Business‐As‐Usual:  

Beyond the above‐mentioned items, the month has been spent fixing or helping with run‐of‐

the‐mill trouble tickets such as email issues, printing/scanning, Caselle access, and login 

problems to name a few.  

 

 

 

82



Memorandum 
Date: September 25, 2018 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Future Plans 

 

 IT Disaster Recovery Plan Wrap‐up:  

The IT disaster recovery plan I started is finished, but could use a little polishing. It includes steps 

that the City manager and/or other department heads can take in the event of certain major 

disasters as far as IT‐related items. These steps come complete with a full list of contacts. Once 

ready, this document will be made electronically available to the administration and department 

heads. Physical copies will be stored in the City’s server rooms. 

 

I am currently scheduled for a month‐long vacation at the end of the year and would like to 

have this document in place and accessible by the time of my departure so the city has a clearly‐

defined path to take in the event of an occurrence during my absence. During this time I will be 

out of the country and expect to be wholly unreachable.  

 

83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

103



 

 
 

Executive Session   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

104



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session



